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Tel: +212 885-8000 100 Park Avenue 
Fax: +212 697-1299 New York, NY 10017 
www.bdo.com 

Independent Auditor’s Report 

To the Board of Trustees 
Hyde Leadership Charter School 
Bronx, New York 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Hyde Leadership Charter School (the 
“School”), which comprise the statement of financial position as of June 30, 2016, and the 
related statements of activities, functional expenses and cash flows for the year then ended, 
and the related notes to the financial statements. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial 
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control 
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor’s Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of 
the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion. 

BDO USA, LLP, a Delaware limited liability partnership, is the U.S. member of BDO International Limited, a UK company limited by guarantee, and forms part of 
the international BDO network of independent member firms. 

BDO is the brand name for the BDO network and for each of the BDO Member Firms. 
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Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the Hyde Leadership Charter School as of June 30, 2016, and 
the changes in its net assets and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Report on Summarized Comparative Information 

We have previously audited the financial statements of Hyde Leadership Charter School as of  
and for the year ended June 30, 2015, and our report dated October 28, 2015 expressed an 
unqualified opinion on those audited financial statements. In our opinion, the summarized 
comparative information presented herein is consistent, in all material respects, with the 
audited financial statements from which it has been derived. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated 
October 27, 2016 on our consideration of the School’s internal control over financial reporting 
and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and 
grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our 
testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that 
testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control over financial reporting or on 
compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering School’s internal control over financial reporting 
and compliance. 

October 27, 2016 
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Hyde Leadership Charter School 

Statement of Financial Position 
(with comparative totals for 2015) 

June 30, 2016 2015 

Assets 

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 2) $1,781,071 $1,591,942 
Investments, at fair value (Notes 2 and 4) 3,790,313 3,757,790 
Grants, contracts and other receivables (Note 2) 942,166 633,387 
Prepaid expenses and other assets (Note 7) 612,191 592,345 
Fixed assets, net (Notes 2 and 3) 615,932 892,771 

$7,741,673 $7,468,235 

Liabilities and Net Assets 

Liabilities: 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 987,142 $ 842,339 
Deferred rent payable (Notes 7 and 10) 3,505,985 2,851,959 

Total Liabilities 4,493,127 3,694,298 

Commitments and Contingencies (Notes 7, 8 and 9) 

Net Assets (Note 2): 
Unrestricted 3,248,546 3,773,937 

$7,741,673 $7,468,235 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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Hyde Leadership Charter School 

Statement of Activities 

(with comparative totals for 2015) 


Year ended June 30, 2016 2015

 (Unrestricted) 

Operating Revenue (Notes 2 and 5): 
State and local per pupil operating revenue 
Government grants 

$15,825,823 
721,268 

$15,514,931 
720,095 

Total Operating Revenue 16,547,091 16,235,026 

Operating Expenses: 
General education 
Special education 
Management and general 
Development 

13,984,724 
2,178,306 
1,386,213 

122,520 

14,014,452 
1,584,937 
1,421,431 

166,804 

Total Operating Expenses 17,671,763 17,187,624 

Net Loss From School Operations (1,124,672) (952,598) 

Support and Other Revenue: 
Contributions 
Other income 
Interest income 
In-kind revenue 

454,534 
80,261 
62,270 
2,216 

242,294 
133,973 
63,297 
13,781 

Total Support and Other Revenue 599,281 453,345 

Change in Net Assets (525,391) (499,253) 

Net Assets, Beginning of Year 3,773,937 4,273,190 

Net Assets, End of Year $ 3,248,546 $ 3,773,937 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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Hyde Leadership Charter School 

Statement of Functional Expenses 
(with comparative totals for 2015) 

Year ended June 30,

 Program Services Supporting Services 
Management Total 

General Special and Supporting 2016 2015 
Education Education Total General Development Services Total Total 

Personnel  costs:  
Administrative staff personnel $  - $

 -

$  - $874,787 $  86,380 $  961,167 $     961,167 $  1,003,438 
Instructional personnel 8,280,239 1,312,571 9,592,810 - - - 9,592,810 9,069,647 

Total Personnel Costs 8,280,239 1,312,571 9,592,810 874,787 86,380 961,167 10,553,977 10,073,085 

Payroll taxes and employee benefits 1,869,223 296,306 2,165,529 197,479 19,500 216,979 2,382,508 2,236,708 
Instructional supplies and equipment 317,414 58,737 376,151 - - - 376,151 450,077 
Professional fees and dues  5,383 8,863 14,246 75,843 8,339 84,182 98,428 162,075 
Instructional support 234,097 43,319 277,416 - - - 277,416 297,525 
Professional development 207,688 38,432 246,120 4,837 202 5,039 251,159 181,024 
Childcare 3,797 - 3,797 - - 3,797 8,228 
Business insurance 65,559 20,346 85,905 3,617 904 4,521 90,426 116,503 
Telephone 73,126 19,601 92,727 4,982 940 5,922 98,649 60,035 
Repairs and maintenance 242,647 177 242,824 671 - 671 243,495 108,835 
Food services 60,999 11,288 72,287 - - - 72,287 80,470 
Management fee (Note 8) 108,750 33,750 142,500 6,000 1,500 7,500 150,000 150,000 
Printing and postage 53,162 7,236 60,398 2,826 3,372 6,198 66,596 62,728 
Bank and payroll charges - - - 182,793 - 182,793 182,793 145,026 
Retreats, conferences and transportation 166,173 81 166,254 98 248 346 166,600 178,064 
Marketing and recruitment 88,056 9,000 97,056 1,690 - 1,690 98,746 84,336 
Technology supplies and 

services – nonclassroom 56,567 8,967 65,534 5,976 590 6,566 72,100 166,158 
Noncapitalized office furniture 1,842 341 2,183 - - - 2,183 1,504 
Other administrative support 9,508 1,507 11,015 1,004 99 1,103 12,118 10,343 
Office supplies 24,677 3,912 28,589 2,607 257 2,864 31,453 34,258 
Rent (Notes 7 and 10) 1,680,310 183,365 1,863,675 - - - 1,863,675 1,863,676 
Other occupancy costs 145,001 26,832 171,833 19,093 - 19,093 190,926 312,819 
Depreciation and amortization 272,423 90,808 363,231 - - - 363,231 373,341 
Miscellaneous expenses 18,083 2,867 20,950 1,910 189 2,099 23,049 30,806 

Total Expenses $13,984,724 $2,178,306 $16,163,030 $1,386,213 $122,520 $1,508,733 $17,671,763 $17,187,624 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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Hyde Leadership Charter School 

Statement of Cash Flows 

(with comparative totals for 2015) 


Year ended June 30, 2016 2015 

Cash Flows From Operating Activities: 
Change in net assets 
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to net cash 

provided by operating activities: 
Depreciation and amortization 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities: 

(Increase) decrease in grants, contracts and other 
receivables 

Increase in prepaid expenses and other assets 
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued 

expenses 
Increase in deferred rent payable 

$  (525,391) 

363,231 

(308,779) 
(19,846) 

144,802 
654,026 

$ (499,253) 

373,341 

83,775 
(1,744) 

(89,618) 
689,260 

Net Cash Provided By Operating Activities 308,043 555,761 

Cash Flows From Investing Activities: 
Purchase of fixed assets 
Purchase of investments 
Proceeds from sale of investments 

(86,392) 
(767,727) 
735,205 

(635,532) 
(2,033,781) 
2,746,113 

Net Cash (Used In) Provided By Investing 
Activities (118,914) 76,800 

Net Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents 189,129 632,561 

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Year 1,591,942 959,381 

Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year $1,781,071 $ 1,591,942 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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Hyde Leadership Charter School 


Notes to Financial Statements
 

1. Description of School 

Hyde Leadership Charter School (the "School") is an educational corporation that commenced 
operations as a charter school in the borough of the Bronx, New York City in July 2006. On 
January 10, 2006, the Board of Regents of the University of the State of New York granted the 
School a provisional charter valid for a term of five years and renewable upon expiration. The 
School’s initial charter was renewed upon expiration in January 2010 and a second renewed 
charter was granted on January 6, 2015 and expires on June 30, 2018 and is subject to renewal. 
The School operates classes for students in kindergarten through grade 12. 

The School's mission is to develop the deeper character and unique potential of each student. 
Using the Hyde process for family-based character education, the School unites parents, teachers 
and students in helping each student achieve their best academically as well as in sports, the arts 
and the community. 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

(a)	 Basis of Presentation 

The financial statements of the School have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting in 
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

(b)	 Financial Statement Presentation 

The classification of a not-for-profit organization’s net assets and its support, revenue and 
expenses is based on the existence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions. It requires that the 
amounts for each of three classes of net assets, permanently restricted, temporarily restricted, 
and unrestricted, be displayed in a statement of financial position and that the amounts of change 
in each of those classes of net assets be displayed in a statement of activities. 

These classes are defined as follows: 

(i)	 Permanently Restricted – Net assets resulting from contributions and other inflows of assets 
whose use by the School is limited by donor-imposed stipulations that neither expire by 
passage of time nor can be fulfilled or otherwise removed by actions of the School. 

(ii)	 Temporarily Restricted – Net assets resulting from contributions and other inflows of assets 
whose use by the School is limited by donor-imposed stipulations that either expire by 
passage of time or can be fulfilled and removed by actions of the School pursuant to those 
stipulations. When such stipulations end or are fulfilled, such temporarily restricted net 
assets are reclassified to unrestricted net assets and reported in the statement of activities. 

(iii)	 Unrestricted – The part of net assets that is neither permanently nor temporarily restricted 
by donor-imposed stipulations. 

(c)	 Cash and Cash Equivalents 

The School considers highly liquid investments with original maturities of 90 days or less to be 
cash equivalents. The School has not experienced any losses on these accounts. The School 
maintains a separate account with a minimum balance requirement of $70,000. The minimum 
balance is required at all times based on the School's charter documents. 
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Hyde Leadership Charter School 


Notes to Financial Statements
 

(d) Receivables 

Receivables are recorded at their net realizable values, based upon an estimated allowance for 
doubtful accounts. Pledges receivable due after one year are discounted to net present value 
using the risk-adjusted interest rate in effect on the date of the gifts. All of the School’s grant, 
contract and other receivables are expected to be collected within one year. 

(e) Fixed Assets 

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Additions and improvements or betterments in 
excess of $500 with an estimated useful life of three or more years are capitalized. Depreciation 
and amortization is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the 
assets. Property and equipment acquired with certain government contract funds are recorded as 
expenses pursuant to the terms of the contract. The estimated useful lives of the assets are as 
follows: 

Computers and software 
Furniture and equipment 
Leasehold improvements 
Instructional assets 

3 years 
5 years 

10 years 
3-5 years 

(f) Asset Impairment 

The School reviews long-lived assets, including equipment, for impairment whenever events or 
changes in business circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be fully 
recoverable. An impairment loss would be recognized when the estimated future cash flows from 
the use of the asset are less than the carrying amount of that asset. As of June 30, 2016, there 
was no such loss. 

(g) Fair Value Measurements 

Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 820, “Fair Value Measurement,” establishes a hierarchy 
for inputs used in measuring fair value that maximizes the use of observable inputs and minimizes 
the use of unobservable inputs by requiring that inputs that are most observable be used when 
available. Observable inputs are inputs that market participants operating within the same 
marketplace as the School would use in pricing the School’s asset or liability based on 
independently derived and objectively determinable market data. Unobservable inputs are inputs 
that cannot be sourced from a broad active market in which assets or liabilities identical or similar 
to those of the School are traded. The School estimates the price of any assets for which there are 
only unobservable inputs by using assumptions that market participants that have investments in 
the same or similar assets would use as determined by the money managers administering each 
investment based on best information available in the circumstances. The input hierarchy is 
broken down into three levels based on the degree to which the exit price is independently 
observable or determinable as follows: 

Level 1 – Valuation based on quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities. Since valuations are based on quoted prices that are readily and regularly available in 
an active market, valuation of these products does not entail a significant degree of judgment. 
Examples include equity securities and publicly-traded mutual funds that are actively traded on a 
major exchange or over-the-counter market. 
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Hyde Leadership Charter School 


Notes to Financial Statements
 

Level 2 – Valuation based on quoted market prices of investments that are not actively traded or 
for which certain significant inputs are not observable, either directly or indirectly, such as 
municipal bonds. The fair value of municipal bonds is estimated using recently executed 
transactions, bid/asked prices and pricing models that factor in, where applicable, interest rates, 
bond spreads and volatility. 

Level 3 – Valuation based on inputs that are unobservable and reflect management’s best estimate 
of what market participants would use as fair value. Examples include limited partnerships and 
private equity investments. 

All of the School’s investment assets at June 30, 2016 are in certificates of deposit and are 
classified as Level 1. The School’s holdings in equity securities are determined by quoted market 
prices. Each of these investments can be liquidated daily. The valuation is based on Level 1 inputs 
within the hierarchy used in measuring fair value. Investments are stated at their fair values in 
the statement of financial position. Net realized gains and losses for the period are shown in the 
statement of activities. At June 30, 2016, cost approximates fair value. 

(h)	 Revenue Recognition 

The School recognizes gifts of cash and other assets as restricted support if they are received with 
donor stipulations that limit the use of the donated assets. When a donor restriction expires, that 
is, when a stipulated time restriction ends or purpose restriction is accomplished, temporarily 
restricted net assets are reclassified to unrestricted net assets and reported in the statement of 
activities as net assets released from restrictions. The School reports amounts received with donor 
stipulations that limit the use of the assets for certain purposes as unrestricted net assets if the 
stipulated purpose restriction is accomplished in the same year. Contributions of assets other than 
cash are recorded at their estimated fair value. 

Revenue from state and local governments resulting from the School's charter status is based on 
the number of students enrolled, and is recorded when services are performed in accordance with 
the charter agreement. 

Revenue from Federal, state and local government grants and contracts is recognized by the 
School when qualifying expenditures are incurred and billable to the government or when required 
services have been provided. 

The School recognizes as income donated services that require specialized skills that are provided 
by individuals possessing those skills and would typically need to be purchased if they had not 
been contributed. 

A number of volunteers have made a contribution of their time to the School to develop its 
academic programs and to serve on the School's Board of Trustees. The value of this contributed 
time is not reflected in these financial statements since it does not meet the criteria for 
recognition. 

(i)	 Expenses 

Expenses are classified according to the functional categories for which they are incurred, as 
follows: 

	 Program Services - represents expenses directly associated with general education and 
special education for certain students requiring additional attention and guidance. 

	 Development - represents expenses directly associated with the School's effort to raise funds 
to support the operations of the School. 
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Hyde Leadership Charter School 


Notes to Financial Statements
 

	 Management and General - represents expenses related to the overall administration and 
operation of the School that are not associated with any program services or development. 

(j)	 Income Taxes 

The School is incorporated under a charter granted by the Board of Regents on behalf of the New 
York State Education Department and is exempt from Federal, state and local income taxes under 
Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code (the “IRC”) and, therefore, has made no provision 
for income taxes in the accompanying financial statements. In addition, the School has been 
determined by the Internal Revenue Service not to be a “private foundation” within the meaning 
of Section 509(a) of the IRC. There was no unrelated business income for the year ended June 30, 
2016. 

Under ASC 740, “Income Taxes,” an organization must recognize the tax benefit associated with 
tax positions taken for tax return purposes when it is more likely than not that the position will 
not be sustained upon examination by a taxing authority. The School does not believe it has taken 
any material uncertain tax positions and, accordingly, it has not recorded any liability for 
unrecognized tax benefits. The School has filed for and received income tax exemptions in the 
jurisdictions where it is required to do so. Additionally, the School has filed Internal Revenue 
Service (“IRS”) Form 990 information returns, as required, and all other applicable returns in 
jurisdictions where so required. For the year ended June 30, 2016, there was no interest or 
penalties recorded or included in the statement of activities. The School is subject to routine 
audits by a taxing authority. As of June 30, 2016, the School was not subject to any examination 
by a taxing authority. Management believes it is no longer subject to income tax examination for 
the years prior to June 30, 2013. 

(k)	 Use of Estimates 

In preparing financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles, 
management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of 
assets and liabilities and the disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the 
financial statements and revenues and expenses during the reported period. Actual results could 
differ from those estimates. 

(l)	 Concentration of Credit Risk 

The School maintains cash and cash equivalent balances in bank deposit accounts, which may 
exceed Federally-insured limits. The School has not experienced any losses in such accounts and 
does not believe it is exposed to any significant credit risk on its cash and cash equivalent 
accounts. 

(m)	 Comparative Financial Information 

The financial statements include certain prior year summarized comparative information. With 
respect to the statement of functional expenses, the prior year expenses are presented by 
expense classification in total rather than functional category. Such information does not include 
sufficient detail to constitute a presentation in conformity with generally accepted accounting 
principles. Accordingly, such information should be read in conjunction with the School’s financial 
statements for the year ended June 30, 2015, from which the summarized information was 
derived. 
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Hyde Leadership Charter School 


Notes to Financial Statements
 

3. Fixed Assets, Net 

The School’s property and equipment consist of the following: 

June 30, 2016 

Furniture and equipment $ 394,665 
Computers and software 989,114 
Office equipment 393,499 
Leasehold improvements 204,657 
Instructional assets 210,538 

2,192,473 

Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization (1,576,541) 

$ 615,932 

For the year ended June 30, 2016, depreciation expense was $363,231. 

4. Investments at Fair Value  

The following table shows, by level within the fair value hierarchy, the School’s financial assets 
that are accounted for at fair value on a recurring basis as of June 30, 2016. The financial assets 
are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement. The School’s assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair 
value measurement requires judgment and may affect the asset or liability’s placement within the 
fair value hierarchy levels. 

Fair Value Measurement at Report Date Using 
Balance as of 

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) June 30, 2016 

Assets 

Certificates of deposit $3,789,137 $- $- $3,789,137 
Equities – common stock 1,176 - - 1,176 

Total $3,790,313 $- $- $3,790,313 

The School has investments in certificates of deposit with original maturities of greater than 3 
months from the date of purchase, which the School considers to be short-term investments. The 
certificates of deposit represent interest-bearing cash accounts and are categorized as Level 1 of 
the fair value hierarchy. 
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Hyde Leadership Charter School 


Notes to Financial Statements
 

5. Revenue Concentrations 

The School receives substantially all of its support and revenue from the New York City 
Department of Education. If the charter of the School was modified, reducing or eliminating these 
revenues, the School’s finances could be materially adversely affected. 

6. Agreement for School Facility 

The School operates under a Facility Shared Use Agreement (the "Agreement") with the NYCDOE 
for dedicated and shared space at 730 Bryant Avenue, Bronx, New York. The Agreement 
commenced on July 1, 2006 at a cost of $1. The School is responsible for any overtime-related 
costs for services provided beyond the regular operating hours.  

7. Commitments and Contingencies 

(a) Lease Commitments 

The School entered into a 35-year lease in March 2010. The lease provides for the use of a new 
building with a commencement date of August 18, 2011. The lease requires a security deposit of 
$500,000, which is included in prepaid expenses and other assets on the statement of financial 
position. Minimum future obligations under the lease are as follows: 

Year ending June 30, 

2017 
2018 
2019 
2020 
2021 
Thereafter 

$ 1,245,938 
1,283,316 
1,321,816 
1,361,470 
1,402,314 

53,041,879 

$59,656,733
 

The rent expense for the year ended June 30, 2016 was $1,863,675, of which $1,209,649 was paid 
to the lessor under the lease agreement, and $654,026 was a noncash expense, attributable to an 
increase in deferred rent payable. 

(b) Contingency 

Certain grants and contracts may be subject to audit by the funding sources. Such audits might 
result in disallowances of costs submitted for reimbursement. Management is of the opinion that 
such cost disallowances, if any, will not have a material effect on the accompanying financial 
statements. Accordingly, no amounts have been provided for in the accompanying financial 
statements for such potential claims. 
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Hyde Leadership Charter School 


Notes to Financial Statements
 

8. Licensing and Services Agreement 

The Hyde Foundation, a not-for-profit organization dedicated to helping start and support certain 
aspects of charter schools, provides management, fundraising, and other administrative support 
services to the School. Pursuant to the terms of a three-year licensing and services agreement 
with an effective date of July 1, 2013, the School pays the Hyde Foundation an annual fee of 
$150,000 for use of licensed educational models, program materials, training of new faculty and 
accreditation services. Upon expiration, there are automatic successive one-year renewal terms 
unless terminated by the School and/or the Hyde Foundation by a written 90-day notice. 

9. Employee Benefit Plan 

The School maintains a deferred compensation plan qualified under Section 403(b) of the IRC. The 
School matches employee contributions up to 5% of each employee's annual compensation not to 
exceed the employee's annual salary deferral amount. The School may also elect to make 
additional contributions to the plan on a discretionary basis. The School made contributions 
totaling $322,950 for the year ended June 30, 2016. 

10. Deferred Rent Payable  

The School has an operating lease which contains predetermined increases in the rentals payable 
during the term of such lease. For this lease,  the aggregate rental expense is recognized on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term. The difference between the expenses charged to 
operations in any year and the amount payable under the lease during the year is recorded as 
deferred rent payable on the School’s statement of financial position, which will reverse over the 
lease term. Deferred rent payable amounted to $3,505,985 as of June 30, 2016. 

11. Subsequent Events 

The School’s management has performed subsequent event procedures through October 27, 2016, 
which is the date the financial statements were available to be issued and there were no other 
subsequent events requiring adjustment to the financial statements or disclosures as stated 
herein. 
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Tel: +212 885-8000 100 Park Avenue 
Fax: +212 697-1299 New York, NY 10017 
www.bdo.com 

Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial 
Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an 
Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance 
With Government Auditing Standards 

To the Board of Trustees 
Hyde Leadership Charter School 
Bronx, New York 

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial 
statements of Hyde Leadership Charter School (the “School”), which comprise the statement of 
financial position as of June 30, 2016, and the related statements of activities, functional 
expenses and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes to the financial 
statements, and have issued our report thereon dated October 27, 2016. 

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the School’s 
internal control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the 
financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the School’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the School’s internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to 
prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a 
deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable 
possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be 
prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, 
or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material 
weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first 
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control 
that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during 
our audit, we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be 
material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 

BDO USA, LLP, a Delaware limited liability partnership, is the U.S. member of BDO International Limited, a UK company limited by guarantee, and forms part of 
the international BDO network of independent member firms. 

BDO is the brand name for the BDO network and for each of the BDO Member Firms. 
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Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the School’s financial statements are 
free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions 
of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a 
direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, 
providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and 
accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances 
of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing 
Standards. 

Purpose of This Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the School’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit  
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the School’s 
internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other 
purpose. 

October 27, 2016 
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New York State Education Department
�
Request for Proposals to Establish Charter Schools Authorized by the 


Board of Regents
�

2015-16 Budget & Cash Flow Template 

General Instructions and Notes for New Application Budgets and Cash Flows Templates
�

1 
2 

3 

4 

5 

Complete ALL SIX columns in BLUE 
Enter information into the GRAY cells 

Cells containing RED triangles in the upper right corner in columns B through G contain guidance on 
that particular item 

Funding by School District information for all NYS School district is located on the State Aid website 
at https://stateaid.nysed.gov/charter/. Refer to this website for per-pupil tuition funding for all school 
districts. Rows may be inserted in the worksheet to accomodate additional districts if necessary. 

The Assumptions column should be completed for all revenue and expense items unless the item is 
self-explanatory. Where applicable, please reference the page number or section in the application 
narrative that indicates the assumption being made. For instance, student enrollment would 
reference the applicable page number in Section I, C of the application narrative. 
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Hyde Leadership Charter School 
PROJECTED BUDGET FOR 2016-2017 Assumptions 

July 1, 2016 to June 30, 2017 DESCRIPTION OF ASSUMPTIONS - Please note assumptions when applicable 

Please Note: The student enrollment data is entered below in the Enrollment Section beginning in row 155. This will populate the data in row 10. 

OTHER FUNDRAISING TOTAL 

Total Revenue 14,265,858 2,609,210 - 13,837 592,243 17,481,148 

Total Expenses 23,154,920 3,671,079 - 109,979 4,294,117 31,230,094 

Net Income (8,889,063) (1,061,868) - (96,142) (3,701,874) (13,748,946) 

Actual Student Enrollment 788 172 -

Total Paid Student Enrollment - - -

PROGRAM SERVICES SUPPORT SERVICES 

OTHER FUNDRAISING TOTAL 

REVENUE 

REVENUES FROM STATE SOURCES 

Per Pupil Revenue 

District of Location $14,027.00 13,465,920 2,492,671 - - - 15,958,591 

School District 2 (Enter Name) - - - - - -

School District 3 (Enter Name) - - - - - -

School District 4 (Enter Name) - - - - - -

School District 5 (Enter Name) - - - - - -

13,465,920 2,492,671 15,958,591 

Special Education Revenue - - - - - -

Grants 

Stimulus - - - - - -

Other 45,893 - - - - 45,893 FAMIS 

Other State Revenue - - - - - -

TOTAL REVENUE FROM STATE SOURCES 13,511,813 2,492,671 16,004,484 

REVENUE FROM FEDERAL FUNDING 

IDEA Special Needs - 116,539 - - - 116,539 

Title I 597,136 - - - - 597,136 

Title Funding - Other 16,344 - - - - 16,344 

School Food Service (Free Lunch) 49,324 - - - - 49,324 

Grants 

Charter School Program (CSP) Planning & Implementation - - - - - -

Other - - - - - -

Other Federal Revenue - - - - - -

TOTAL REVENUE FROM FEDERAL SOURCES 662,804 116,539 779,343 

LOCAL and OTHER REVENUE 

Contributions and Donations, Fundraising - - - 13,837 480,433 494,270 

Erate Reimbursement 80,877 - - - - 80,877 

Interest Income, Earnings on Investments, - - - - 45,660 45,660 

NYC-DYCD (Department of Youth and Community Developmt.) - - - - - -

Food Service (Income from meals) 10,364 - - - - 10,364 

Text Book - - - - - -

Other Local Revenue - - - - 66,150 66,150 Misc Income 

TOTAL REVENUE FROM LOCAL and OTHER SOURCES 91,241 13,837 592,243 697,321 

TOTAL REVENUE 14,265,858 2,609,210 13,837 592,243 17,481,148 

List exact titles and staff FTE"s ( Full time eqiuilivalent) 

EXPENSES 

ADMINISTRATIVE STAFF PERSONNEL COSTS No. of Positions 

Executive Management 2.00 - - - - 918,019 918,019 ED & COO 

Instructional Management 8.00 1,817,294 107,088 - - - 1,924,382 School Directors and Academic Deans 

Deans, Directors & Coordinators 20.00 3,368,146 - - 86,716 - 3,454,862 Development Dir under Fundraising 

CFO / Director of Finance - - - - - - -

Operation / Business Manager 2.00 - - - - 235,552 235,552 

Administrative Staff 12.00 - - - - 1,140,084 1,140,084 

TOTAL ADMINISTRATIVE STAFF 44 5,185,441 107,088 86,716 2,293,655 7,672,899 

INSTRUCTIONAL PERSONNEL COSTS 

Teachers - Regular 60.00 7,574,096 - - - - 7,574,096 

Teachers - SPED 21.00 - 2,721,476 - - - 2,721,476 

Substitute Teachers - - - - - -

Teaching Assistants 2.00 144,844 - - - - 144,844 

REGULAR 
EDUCATION 

SPECIAL 
EDUCATION 

MANAGEMENT & 
GENERAL 

REGULAR 
EDUCATION 

SPECIAL 
EDUCATION 

MANAGEMENT & 
GENERAL 

CY Per Pupil Rate 
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Hyde Leadership Charter School 
PROJECTED BUDGET FOR 2016-2017 Assumptions 

July 1, 2016 to June 30, 2017 DESCRIPTION OF ASSUMPTIONS - Please note assumptions when applicable 

Please Note: The student enrollment data is entered below in the Enrollment Section beginning in row 155. This will populate the data in row 10. 

OTHER FUNDRAISING TOTAL 

Total Revenue 14,265,858 2,609,210 - 13,837 592,243 17,481,148 

Total Expenses 23,154,920 3,671,079 - 109,979 4,294,117 31,230,094 

Net Income (8,889,063) (1,061,868) - (96,142) (3,701,874) (13,748,946) 

Actual Student Enrollment 788 172 -

Total Paid Student Enrollment - - -

PROGRAM SERVICES SUPPORT SERVICES 

OTHER FUNDRAISING TOTAL 

REGULAR 
EDUCATION 

SPECIAL 
EDUCATION 

MANAGEMENT & 
GENERAL 

REGULAR 
EDUCATION 

SPECIAL 
EDUCATION 

MANAGEMENT & 
GENERAL 

Specialty Teachers 25.00 3,344,157 - - - - 3,344,157 

Aides - - - - - -

Therapists & Counselors 5.00 633,951 - - - - 633,951 

Other 7.00 756,977 - - - - 756,977 Summer & Afterschool Instruction 

TOTAL INSTRUCTIONAL 120 12,454,025 2,721,476 15,175,501 

NON-INSTRUCTIONAL PERSONNEL COSTS 

Nurse - - - - - -

Librarian 1.00 147,981 - - - - 147,981 

Custodian 3.00 260,635 - - - - 260,635 

Security - - - - - -

Other 7.00 - - - - 589,541 589,541 Kitchen & IT staff 

TOTAL NON-INSTRUCTIONAL 11 408,616 589,541 998,157 

SUBTOTAL PERSONNEL SERVICE COSTS 175 18,048,081 2,828,564 86,716 2,883,196 23,846,557 

PAYROLL TAXES AND BENEFITS 

Payroll Taxes 1,335,298 209,273 - 6,416 213,315 1,764,302 

Fringe / Employee Benefits 818,956 128,350 - 3,935 130,829 1,082,070 

Retirement / Pension 256,120 40,140 - 1,231 40,915 338,406 

TOTAL PAYROLL TAXES AND BENEFITS 2,410,375 377,763 11,581 385,059 3,184,778 

TOTAL PERSONNEL SERVICE COSTS 20,458,457 3,206,327 98,297 3,268,256 27,031,335 

CONTRACTED SERVICES 

Accounting / Audit - - - - 53,746 53,746 Audit & Bank Fees 

Legal - - - - 6,639 6,639 

Management Company Fee 123,000 27,000 - - - 150,000 

Nurse Services - - - - - -

Food Service / School Lunch - - - - - -

Payroll Services 124,351 19,489 - 597 19,865 164,303 

Special Ed Services - - - - - -

Titlement Services (i.e. Title I) - - - - - -

Other Purchased / Professional / Consulting 98,001 - - - 6,526 104,527 Substitute Teachers; Child Care (FLC), & Admin Support 

TOTAL CONTRACTED SERVICES 345,352 46,489 597 86,776 479,215 

SCHOOL OPERATIONS 

Board Expenses - - - - - -

Classroom / Teaching Supplies & Materials 85,743 18,822 - - - 104,565 

Special Ed Supplies & Materials - - - - - -

Textbooks / Workbooks 155,772 - - - - 155,772 

Supplies & Materials other 26,110 5,732 - - - 31,842 

Equipment / Furniture 32,889 - - - - 32,889 

Telephone - - - - 91,611 91,611 

Technology 55,679 12,222 - - 7,545 75,446 90% Program; 10% M&G 

Student Testing & Assessment 46,095 - - - - 46,095 

Field Trips 95,697 21,007 - - - 116,704 Includes Retreats 

Transportation (student) - - - - - -

Student Services - other 66,372 - - - - 66,372 Athletics, Uniforms, FED Events 

Office Expense - - - - 197,846 197,846 Admin Discretionary Funds, Office Supplies, postage & copying expense 

Staff Development 188,391 29,525 - 905 30,096 248,917 

Staff Recruitment - - - - 77,526 77,526 

Student Recruitment / Marketing - - - - - -

School Meals / Lunch 67,507 - - - - 67,507 

Travel (Staff) - - - - 3,992 3,992 

Fundraising - - - 10,179 - 10,179 
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Hyde Leadership Charter School 
PROJECTED BUDGET FOR 2016-2017 Assumptions 

July 1, 2016 to June 30, 2017 DESCRIPTION OF ASSUMPTIONS - Please note assumptions when applicable 

Please Note: The student enrollment data is entered below in the Enrollment Section beginning in row 155. This will populate the data in row 10. 

OTHER FUNDRAISING TOTAL 

Total Revenue 14,265,858 2,609,210 - 13,837 592,243 17,481,148 

Total Expenses 23,154,920 3,671,079 - 109,979 4,294,117 31,230,094 

Net Income (8,889,063) (1,061,868) - (96,142) (3,701,874) (13,748,946) 

Actual Student Enrollment 788 172 -

Total Paid Student Enrollment - - -

PROGRAM SERVICES SUPPORT SERVICES 

OTHER FUNDRAISING TOTAL 

REGULAR 
EDUCATION 

SPECIAL 
EDUCATION 

MANAGEMENT & 
GENERAL 

REGULAR 
EDUCATION 

SPECIAL 
EDUCATION 

MANAGEMENT & 
GENERAL 

Other 24,537 5,386 - - - 29,923 

TOTAL SCHOOL OPERATIONS 844,793 92,694 11,084 408,615 1,357,186 

FACILITY OPERATION & MAINTENANCE 

Insurance - - - - 121,958 121,958 

Janitorial - - - - 108,948 108,948 Maintenance 

Building and Land Rent / Lease 1,416,654 310,973 - - 191,959 1,919,585 90% Program; 10% M&G 

Repairs & Maintenance - - - - 39,113 39,113 

Equipment / Furniture - - - - 11,082 11,082 

Security - - - - 45,826 45,826 

Utilities 89,665 14,597 - - 11,585 115,846 90% Program; 10% M&G 

TOTAL FACILITY OPERATION & MAINTENANCE 1,506,319 325,569 530,470 2,362,358 

DEPRECIATION & AMORTIZATION - - - - - -

DISSOLUTION ESCROW & RESERVES / CONTIGENCY - - - - - -

TOTAL EXPENSES 23,154,920 3,671,079 109,979 4,294,117 31,230,094 

NET INCOME (8,889,063) (1,061,868) - (96,142) (3,701,874) (13,748,946) 

ENROLLMENT - *School Districts Are Linked To Above Entries* 

District of Location 788 172 960 

School District 2 (Enter Name) -

School District 3 (Enter Name) -

School District 4 (Enter Name) -

School District 5 (Enter Name) -

TOTAL ENROLLMENT 788 172 960 

REVENUE PER PUPIL 18,095 15,205 -

EXPENSES PER PUPIL 29,370 21,393 -

REGULAR 
EDUCATION 

SPECIAL 
EDUCATION 

TOTAL 
ENROLLED 







Disclosure of Financial lnterest by a Current or Proposed Gharter School 
Education Corooration Trustee 

Trustee Name: 

Herbert M. Kaolan 

Name of Charter School Education Corporation (for an unmerged school, this is 
the Charter School Name): 

Hvde Leadership Charter School 

1. List all positions held on the education corporation board (e.9., president, treasurer, 
parent representative). Secretary 

2. ls the trustee an employee of any school operated by the Education Corporation?
Yes X No 

lf Yes, for each school, please provide a description of the position(s) you hold, your 
responsibilities, your salary and your start date. 

3. ls the trustee an employee or agent of the management company or institutional 
partner of the charter school(s) governed by the Education Corporation? 

Yes X No 

lf Yes, for each school, please provide a description of the position(s) you hold, your 
responsibilities, your salary and your start date. 

4. ldentify each interesUtransaction (and provide the requested information) that you or 
any of your immediate family members or any persons who live with you in your 
house have held or engaged in with the charter school(s) governed by the Education 
Corporation during the time you have served on the board, and in the six-month 
period prior to such service. lf there has been no such financial interest or 
transaction, write None. Please note that if you answered Yes to Questions 2-4 
above, you need not disclose again your employment status, salary, etc. 

Date(s) Nature of Financial 
lnteresUTransaction 

Steps taken to avoid 
a conflict of interest, 

(e.9., did not vote, 
did not participate in 

Name of person 
holding interest or 

engaging in 
transaction and 

discussion) relationship to 
vourself 

NONE 



5. ldentify each individual, business, corporation, union association, firm, partnership,
committee proprietorship, franchise holding company, joint stock company, business
or real estate trust, non-profit organization, or other organization or group of people
doing business with the school(s) governed by the Education Corporation and in
which such entity, during the time of your tenure as a trustee, you and/or your
immediate family member(s) or person(s) living in your house had a financial interest
or other relationship. lf you are a member, director, officer or employee of an
organization formally partnered with the school(s) that is/are doing business with the
school(s) through a management or services agreement, please identify only the
name of the organization, your position in the organization, and the relationship
between such organization and the school(s). lf there was no financial interest, write
None.

Please note that this document is considered a public record and as such, may be made available to
members of the public upon request under the Freedom of lnformation Law. Personal contact information
provided below will be redacted.

Business Tel

Business Ad

E-mail Addre

Home Teleph

Home Addre

Organization
conducting

business with
the school(s)

Nature of
business

conducted

Approximate
value of the

business
conducted

Name of Trustee and/or
immediate family member
of household holding an

interest in the organization
conducting business with

the school(s) and the
nature of the interest

Steps Taken
to Avoid

Conflict of
lnterest

NONE
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Hyde Leadership Charter School
 
Trustees Meeting
 

July 27, 2015
 
830 Hunts Point Avenue Bronx NY 10474
 

Minutes
 

Trustees Present:	 Herb Fixler 

Wilder Baker 

Herb Kaplan 

David Steadly 

Dennis Mehiel 

Trustees Absent:	 Robert Kramer 

Deborah Dumont 

Jeanette Melendez 

Oz Hanley 

Also present:	 Maureen Singer, Trustee nominee 

Thomas Sturtevant, Executive Director (via phone) 

Michael McNamara, Chief Operating Officer 

Joanne Goubourne, Hyde Foundation 

With a quorum present the meeting began at 6:16 PM, Mr. Fixler presiding. 

1. June 22, 2015 meeting minutes 

A motion was made, seconded and unanimously approved by the Trustees present to approve 

the minutes from the June 22, 2015 Board meeting. 

2. Nominating Committee 

Mr. Fixler asked Ms. Singer to leave the room so that the Trustees could discuss her candidacy 

for the Board. Discussion ensued among the Trustees in favor of Singer joining the Board. A 

motion was made, seconded and unanimously approved by the Trustees present to add Ms. 

Singer to Hyde’s Board of Trustees.  Ms. Singer rejoined the meeting and was informed of the 

outcome of the Trustees vote and the DOE requirements for adding her to the Board. 

Mr. Fixler, as Chair of the Executive Committee, appointed Deborah Dumont and Dennis Mehiel 

as Executive Committee members for a term starting August 1, 2015 and ending July 31, 2017. 

In accordance with the by-laws, he asked the Trustees to consent to their appointments and term. 

The trustees present gave their consent. 

Wilder Baker has introduced Michael Sload, Global Head of Consumer Products for Colgate 

Palmolive, as a potential Board Trustee. Mr. Sload will attend the Board meeting in August. 
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3. Development Committee 

Mr. Mehiel presented a year-end recap and July update on Development activity. He reported 

that fundraising is off to a strong start in FY16 with the receipt of the $50,000 Hechksher 

Foundation grant and over $25,000 of other donations. He reviewed a format that the 

Development Committee plans to use for monthly reporting to the Trustees and described 

Foundation activity currently in progress.  He eloquently described the Hyde platform for 

marketing materials used with funders.  He informed the Trustees that Mr. Williams, Associate 

Director of Development, hopes to meet with Trustees individually to discuss their fundraising 

goals and offer his assistance. 

Mehiel acknowledged the strong year-end funding from members of the Hunts Point business 

community who are being actively courted by Herb Kaplan. Kaplan expressed gratitude for a 

large donation from D’Arrigo Brothers which is very supportive of Hyde but will not visit the 

school. Mr. Fixler recommended that a group of students visit D’Arrigo Brothers to personally 

thank them for their continued support. 

There was a general discussion of ideas for a 10-year Hyde Bronx anniversary.  Mr. Baker felt 

this event would be a good opportunity to approach Bronx-born celebrities. Mr. Steadly 

reminded the Trustees of the offer made to hold a joint fundraiser with the Bronx Museum of the 

Arts. Fixler recommended tabling the discussion until the August Board meeting. 

4. Executive Director’s Report 

Mr. Sturtevant thanked Maureen Singer for joining the Board. He updated the Board on the 

status of the school’s Strategic Plan. The previous Head of School had implemented a three-year 

Strategic Plan which ended June 30, 2015. A centerpiece of that plan was a commitment to data-

drive instruction. While recognizing the value of data analysis, Mr. Sturtevant stated there is no 

strategy better than having great teachers. He said it was time consuming and difficult to develop 

great teachers and high turnover was a further problem with this strategy. Hyde needs to attract 

and retain the best teachers. That is a cornerstone of the Strategic Plan currently in development 

for the current Charter term. 

Sturtevant has recently spent considerable time analyzing State test results, question by question 

for the last three years and drew some conclusions from the data. He sees gaps in students’ 

mastery of specific Common Core reading and reading comprehension skills. He believes 

students need to practice more. More thinking, more reading, more use of important academic 

skills. 

He sees a clear link to fundraising in improved academic performance. Foundations and 

individual funders intuitively appreciate the value of Hyde’s character curriculum but are 

reluctant to donate to the school if the school does not also have strong academic results. 

Conversely, funding may flow much easier if Hyde can demonstrate both a commitment to 

academic and character. Mr. Kaplan stated that link did exist in Hyde’s high school as evidenced 

by good Regents scores, high four-year graduation rates, high college acceptance and hopefully 

high college persistence. He believes we can make that case now even if 3-8 testing results are 
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not as good as we expect they will eventually be. He sees a strong call to action to have funders 

recognize our high school success and partner with us to improve K-8 performance. 

Sturtevant noted Hyde-Bronx and the Hyde Foundation haven’t been able to objectively quantify 

the value of the Family Education effort. Need to get this done as part of strategic plan. 

Over the course of last school year, Sturtevant became concerned about consistency and culture 
th th

in the Upper Elementary (4 and 5 grades) and Middle School. Hallway transitions have been 

particularly challenging. For the start of the FY16 school year, he has re-aligned classrooms on 

4
th 

floor to separate Upper Elementary from Middle School into separate spaces. There were a 

number of office personnel who have switched offices as well. 

Regarding the State tests from April 2015, Sturtevant reported we don’t have proficiency scores 

yet. Those scores should come in August. The school has received question-by-question test 
rd th th

results for 2014-15. Looks like 3 grade approximate city-wide results; 4 /5 down but some 
th th

better 5 ELA scoring. 8 grade far exceeded city scores. ELA growth is a charter renewal goal. 

Will share results with Board next month but Tom does not expect to see dramatically different 

results from last year’s. 

Finally, he reminded Trustees that Hyde is working with a very small margin in this year’s 

budget. More challenging still is FY17. Hyde expects to receive approximately $210,000 fro a 

State Senate set aside for charter schools but can’t plan that into long-term decisionmaking 

because we don’t know if Senate earmark will be repeated. 

5. Finance Committee 

Mr. McNamara reported on June and full-year 2015 results. The school benefited from strong 

Special Education division revenues and less attrition of general education students than in 

previous years. Costs were effectively contained. Not counting non-cash charges for rent and 

depreciation the school had a surplus over $500,000 but McNamara stated that audited 

financials, including those non-cash charges, would show a deficit of approximately $500,000.  

At Mr. Fixler’s request, McNamara summarized year-end cash and investment balances 

compared to the prior year. 

6. Marketing/Advertising/Public Relations Committee 

No report. 

7. Human Resources Committee 

No report. 

8. Facilities Committee 

No report. 

9. Education Committee 
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No report. 

10.	 Government Relations 

Ruben Diaz, Jr. offered to teach a high school class. Mehiel wants to reach out to Hyde’s High 

School Director to see if this is a good idea and then get back to him about it. 

11.	 Hyde Foundation 

Hyde celebrates 50 years of operation next June. Ms. Goubourne described the boarding schools 

and Hyde Foundation as going into a new phase. Malcolm Gauld is working to break down the 

us (urban) vs they (Boarding school) barriers. New discussion is taking place to bring the public 

schools into the celebration and work more collaboratively going forward. 

12.	 Other Business 

None. 

13.	 Public Comments 

None. 

14.	 Adjournment 

There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 7:50 pm. 

Minutes prepared by Michael McNamara 
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Hyde Leadership Charter School
 
Trustees Meeting
 
August 24, 2015
 

830 Hunts Point Avenue Bronx NY 10474
 
Minutes
 

Trustees Present:	 Herb Fixler 

Wilder Baker 

Herb Kaplan 

David Steadly 

Deborah Dumont 

Jeanette Melendez 

Dennis Mehiel 

Trustees Absent:	 Robert Kramer 

Oz Hanley 

Also present:	 Thomas Sturtevant, Executive Director 

Michael McNamara, Chief Operating Officer 

Joanne Goubourn, Hyde Foundation 

Josh Williams, Manager of Development 

Michael Sload, Guest 

With a quorum present the meeting began at 6:00 PM, Mr. Fixler presiding. 

1. Nominating Committee 

Michael Sload, who is a potential Trustee candidate, attended the meeting as Mr. Baker’s guest. 

He introduced himself and described his background, particularly his interest in urban education 

and his curiosity about Hyde’s practices. 

2. July 27, 2015 meeting minutes 

A motion was made, seconded and unanimously approved by the Trustees present to approve 

the minutes from the July 27, 2015 Board meeting. 

3. Finance Committee 

Mr. McNamara presented results for July 2015, the first month of the fiscal year. He noted a 

budget-to-actual timing issue with summer school salaries that will reverse in August. Overall, 

revenues were ahead of budget due largely to receipt of a $50,000 grant from the Hecksher 

Foundation. Expenses were over budget due to the summer school salaries issue and some 

carryover from FY15 graduation activities. No major problem areas were noted. 
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McNamara reported that the financial audit was well underway and no financial issues had been 

identified. 

4. Executive Director’s Report 

Mr. Sturtevant reported on State test results and summarized by stating the High School 

continues to perform very well but that performance was mixed in the Middle and Elementary 

school divisions. 

rd th
Mr. Sturtevant presented 3 through 8 grade State testing results in detail, focusing on both the 

successes and shortfalls vs. City averages and year-over-year within our own school. He drew 

distinctions between student and teacher performance and also across grades. 

Trustees asked questions about the data—where were the surprises in the data (good and bad); 

what do we have to pay the best teachers; do we have effective strategies for finding and landing 

the right teachers? 

He then turned to HS results and pointed to the strongest graduation rate in our history—94.12% 

of the 2015 class graduated in 4 years—far exceeding District and City averages. 

Sturtevant described his goals for academic performance in FY16: consistent practice of thinking 

in all forms; authentic assessment projects in the high school; writing across the curriculum in 

middle school; academic vocabulary and reading in elementary school. 

Mr. Fixler asked if Hyde’s family-based education helped with academic performance and 

whether this could be measured. Sturtevant responded it did, using an example of how students 

must use advanced cognitive skill to demonstrate their mastery of Hyde’s words and principles. 

He credited Hyde’s character focus with leading directly to the success we see with our high 

school students. 

5. Development Committee 

Mr. Williams summarized fundraising for July and characterized it as a very strong start to the 

year. He is particularly optimistic about the Foundation fundraising pipeline. 

Mr. Mehiel started a discussion of ideas for the school’s 10
th 

year anniversary. Mr. Fixler 

envisions a celebration (as opposed to a primarily fundraising effort) for all the constituencies 

that have supported Hyde and helped it along the way. Mr. Kaplan voiced a strong vote for 

having the celebration in Hunts Point. He pointed out the opportunities for publicity will be 

better in the Bronx than in Manhattan. Mr. Baker asked if a celebrity host, such as Supreme 

Court Justice Sonia Sotomayor, would be the right match for this event. 

6. Marketing/Advertising/Public Relations Committee 

No report. 

7. Human Resources Committee 

No report. 
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8.	 Facilities Committee 

No report. 

9.	 Education Committee 

No report. 

10.	 Government Relations 

No report. 

11.	 Hyde Foundation 

Hyde 101—the Hyde Foundation training for new staff that took place August 12-14 went very 

well. Ms. Goubourn reported that a $2,000 contribution from students at Hyde Woodstock on its 

way to Hyde Bronx. 

12.	 Other Business 

Mr. Steadly reported that he has a client who is connected with ICAP. Mr. Williams updated the 

Trustees on his contact with leadership at ICAP.  

13.	 Public Comments 

None. 

14.	 Adjournment 

There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 8:01 pm. 

Minutes prepared by Michael McNamara 
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Hyde Leadership Charter School
 
Trustees Meeting
 

September 28, 2015
 
830 Hunts Point Avenue Bronx NY 10474
 

Minutes
 

Trustees Present:	 Herb Fixler 

Herb Kaplan 

David Steadly 

Deborah Dumont 

Jeanette Melendez 

Dennis Mehiel 

Maureen Singer 

Oz Hanley 

Rob Kramer 

Trustees Absent:	 Wilder Baker 

Also present:	 Thomas Sturtevant, Executive Director 

Michael McNamara, Chief Operating Officer 

Joanne Goubourn, Hyde Foundation 

Josh Williams, Manager of Development 

With a quorum present the meeting began at 6:00 PM, Mr. Fixler presiding. 

1. August 24, 2015 meeting minutes 

A motion was made, seconded and unanimously approved by the Trustees present to approve 

the minutes from the August 24, 2015 Board meeting. 

2. Board Chair Report 

A motion was made, seconded and unanimously approved by the Trustees present to extend the 

Trustee terms for additional three-year terms: Deborah Dumont through September 30, 2018 and 

David Steadly through October 31, 2018. 

3. Finance Committee 

Mr. McNamara reported on favorable performance to budget for August and August year-to-

date. He explained that although student enrollment started below Hyde’s enrollment capacity of 

940 students, additional students were drawn from the waiting list throughout September. He 

explained the favorable variance to plan salaries and wages as an outcome of a very difficult 

recruiting environment, leaving the school with teaching vacancies very late into August and 

early September. 
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4. Executive Director’s Report 

Mr. Sturtevant presented Strategic Plan themes for the year—Test Success; College Readiness; 

Growth Mindset and One School—and discussed key components of each. He discussed 

professional development seminars held already this year for staff around these themes. 

He showed graphically how the Middle School, Upper Elementary space was realigned to 

consolidate each school’s classrooms to allow better student transition management and 

minimize disruptions between older and younger students. 

Mr. Sturtevant described a Faculty Fellowship program to allow teachers to pursue individually-

driven professional development projects. 

th th
He explained the one-to-one computing now in place for all 10 to 12 grade students. Students 

have Chromebooks, which they check out in homeroom each day and return them there at the 

end of the school day. He gave a brief tutorial on Google Classroom and Google Drive and 

showed Trustees how teachers and students are using the Google platform to collaborate on 

classroom and extracurricular projects. 

Hyde is committed to using the Hyde Foundation EEMO rubric (Excellence, Effort, Motions. 

Off Track) to measure character performance and growth throughout students’ tenure at Hyde. 

5. Development Committee 

Mr. Williams informed the board of a visit from the Robin Hood Foundation scheduled for 

October 5. Through that visit, Hyde leadership hopes to develop a partnership with Robin Hood 
rd th

in strengthening academic and teacher performance with a focus on 3 through 8 grade 

programs. 

He recapped strong funding through August with over 25% of the fundraising plan received in 

just the first two months of the year. Hyde already has $175,000 in Foundation ‘asks’ in play, 

well ahead of last year’s pace. Efforts for the next several months will focus on individual and 

Board giving. 

Hyde is holding an Open House in the High School on October 22. Mr. Kaplan asked that each 

Trustee make a strong effort to bring one person to the event. 

Mr. Steadly reminded everyone that Annual Appeal letters needs to go out before Thanksgiving. 

There was discussion of using personal letters from Trustees and perhaps a one- to two-minute 

video. 

6. Nominating Committee 

No report. 

7. Human Resources 

No report. 
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8.	 Marketing/Advertising/Public Relations Committee 

Mr .Hanley attended a meeting with Chancellor Farina for Charter Boards. She is open to 

visiting charter schools and welcomes invitations. 

9.	 Facilities Committee 

No report. 

10.	 Education Committee 

Ms. Dumont reported on a meeting with Mr. Sturtevant on the best use of the Education 

Committee. Sturtevant would appreciate a ‘fresh eyes’ approach from the Committee on the 

school’s test results. Ms. Dumont will follow up on that request. 

nd rd
Mr. Kramer reported on the Surge Up technology camp for rising 1

st
, 2 and 3 graders. Use of 

tablets for inquiry-based learning was a highlight of the program. 

11.	 Government Relations 

Mr. Mehiel sent an email to Ruben Diaz Jr.’s office to see if he will come to the Hyde High 

School to teach a class as he suggested he might. 

12.	 Hyde Foundation 

Ms. Goubourn shared the relationship among the Hyde Foundation, the boarding schools and the 

charter schools is changing in a positive way. Walls are coming down among the constituent 

groups to better serve all the schools and maximize the value of Hyde alumni. The fall version of 

‘Hyde 101’ is happening the first week of October. 

13.	 Other Business 

Mr. Hanley offered that the preschool he chairs has offered to do co-training for Hyde early 

elementary school teachers at its Tribeca location. 

14.	 Public Comments 

None. 

15.	 Adjournment 

There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 7:55 pm. 

Minutes prepared by Michael McNamara 
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Hyde Leadership Charter School
 
Trustees Meeting
 
October 26, 2015
 

830 Hunts Point Avenue Bronx NY 10474
 
Minutes
 

Trustees Present:	 Herb Fixler 

Wilder Baker 

Herb Kaplan 

David Steadly 

Jeanette Melendez 

Maureen Singer 

Oz Hanley 

Dennis Mehiel 

Trustees Absent:	 Deborah Dumont 

Rob Kramer 

Also present:	 Thomas Sturtevant, Executive Director 

Michael McNamara, Chief Operating Officer 

Joanne Goubourn, Hyde Foundation 

Josh Williams, Manager of Development 

Elizabeth Hittenmark, Director of Family Support 

With a quorum present the meeting began at 6:00 PM, Mr. Fixler presiding. 

1. September 28, 2015 meeting minutes 

A motion was made, seconded and unanimously approved by the Trustees present to approve 

the minutes from the September 28, 2015 Board meeting. 

2. Nominating Committee 

A motion was made, seconded and unanimously approved by the Trustees present to extend the 

Trustee term for an additional three-year term for Wilder Baker, through November 31, 2018. 

3. Report of Independent Audit 

Representatives of BDO, the school’s independent auditor, presented their findings from the 

audit of the financial results and internal control systems for the year ended June 30, 2015. 

Trustees asked questions and received satisfactory responses to those questions. The BDO 

representatives told the Trustees they would issue a ‘clean’ audit for the year. 

A motion was made, seconded and passed unanimously by the Trustees present to accept the 

audit findings and report as issued by BDO, LP. 
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4. Executive Director’s Report 

Mr. Sturtevant circulated and described the background and rationale for an enrollment cap 

increase Charter Material Revision request. The Trustees asked a number of questions regarding 

the proper maximum enrollment for the school. The following resolution was made, seconded 

and approved unanimously by the Trustees present: 

Be it resolved, that the Board of Trustees of Hyde Leadership Charter School approves 

the School’s submission of a Charter Material Revision Request to increase its authorized 

enrollment to 960 students beginning with the school year starting July 1, 2016. 

Sturtevant shared with the Trustees a letter he received from Chancellor Farina after her visit to 

our co-located DOE school partner as well as Hyde. He also read a letter from State Senator Diaz 

congratulating Hyde on the selection of one of its high school students as one of 10 State of New 

York applicants to the President’s Scholar’s Program. Two representatives from New York State 

will be selected from these 10 applicants for this prestigious national program.  

Standards-based, short-cycle feedback to students is an ongoing programmatic priority—a new 

focus for this year, and includes weekly check-ins to assess student progress against Common 

Core standards. He reported that the National Honor Society induction was held last week and 

was a great event for parents and students. 

5. Development Committee 

Mr. Williams presented month and year-to-date fundraising activity. He listed a number high 

probability Foundation ‘asks’ outstanding. Mr. Mehiel asked how the Trustees could support the 

Foundation requests. Williams also spoke of the successful Open House held last week. Mr. 

Steadly discussed a potential dinner fundraiser with a Hyde graduate who now is a top chef. 

Williams introduced a donor-restricted fund—arranged by the family of Board Trustee Wilder 

Baker—to help Hyde graduates with college-related costs that they might not be able to afford 

otherwise. 

The annual fundraising appeal letter is scheduled to be finished this week. Target date for 

distribution is November 20. A separate appeal is planned simultaneously to businesses in the 

Hunts Point area. 

6. Finance Committee 

McNamara reported on financial results for the month of September and the first quarter of the 

fiscal year. The school is on budget for revenue for three months and ahead of budget for net 

surplus. 

McNamara informed the Board trustees that the audit of the school’s retirement plan was 

completed and submitted October 15. He asked the Board to ratify two changes to the retirement 

plan. After discussion among the Trustees, he following resolution was made, seconded and 

approved unanimously by the Trustees present: 

Be it resolved, that the Board of Trustees of Hyde Leadership Charter School adopt the 

following amendments to the Hyde Leadership Charter School Defined Contribution 

Plan: 
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Effective January 1, 2016 for all newly-hired employees with employment dates on or 

after January 1, 2016, employer-matching contributions will be 100% vested, as of each 

employee’s employment date once the employee reaches two years of Vesting Service. 

Employees who fail to reach two years of Vesting Service will be 0% vested in 

employer-matching contributions. 

Effective January 1, 2016 for all newly-hired employees with employment dates on or 

after January 1, 2016, there will be no matching contribution for employees whose 

regular work schedule includes less than 37.5 hours per week. 

A motion was made, seconded and passed unanimously by the Trustees present to adopt these 

amendments to the Hyde Leadership Charter School Defined Contribution Retirement Plan. 

7. Human Resources 

No report. 

8. Marketing/Advertising/Public Relations Committee 

No report. 

9. Facilities Committee 

No report. 

10. Education Committee 

Ms. Melendez reported that the school year is off to a great start academically. Teachers seem to 

be experienced and engaged, especially in the critical Upper Elementary grades. Parent Teacher 

conferences held last week were overwhelmingly positive as she observed and parents reported 

to her. 

11. Government Relations 

Mr. Mehiel reached out to Borough President Diaz regarding having Mr. Diaz teach a one-day 

seminar at Hyde’s High School. Mr. Diaz is open to this possibility sometime in early 2016. 

12. Hyde Foundation 

No report. 

13. Other Business 

Mr. Fixler raised the issue of timing and location for the Board retreat. Target date is January 9, 

2016. Location has not yet been determined. 

14. Public Comments 
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None. 

15.	 Adjournment 

There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 8:05 pm. 

Minutes prepared by Michael McNamara 
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Hyde Leadership Charter School
 
Trustees Meeting
 

November 23, 2015
 
830 Hunts Point Avenue Bronx NY 10474
 

Minutes
 

Trustees Present: Herb Fixler 

Wilder Baker 

Herb Kaplan 

David Steadly 

Deborah Dumont 

Maureen Singer 

Trustees Absent: Oz Hanley 

Dennis Mehiel 

Jeanette Melendez 

Rob Kramer 

Also present: Thomas Sturtevant, Executive Director 

Michael McNamara, Chief Operating Officer 

Joanne Goubourn, Hyde Foundation 

Josh Williams, Manager of Development 

Elizabeth Hittenmark, Director of Family Services 

Hyde Parent Representatives 

Cecilia Dougherty, Young Professionals Committee 

With a quorum present the meeting began at 6:11 PM, Mr. Fixler presiding. 

1. October 26, 2015 meeting minutes 

A motion was made, seconded and unanimously approved by the Trustees present to approve 

the minutes from the October 26, 2015 Board meeting. 

2. Executive Director’s Report 

Mr. Sturtevant discussed three non-material revisions to its charter: 1) an update to the Employee 

Handbook; 2) an update to the Parent/Student Handbook and 3) a change to the Lottery 

Preference to allow staff children to have 1
st 

preference for open enrollment slots. Siblings of 

current students would have second preference; families from District 8 would have third 

position in the lottery and any New York City resident families would have the final lottery 

preference position. 

A motion was made, seconded and unanimously approved by the Trustees present to approve the 

three non-material charter revisions. 

Hyde-Bronx Trustee Meeting Minutes 

1 of 3 



    

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

   

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

  

 

For the Spanish speaking parents in attendance, Ms. Hittenmark translated the proceedings of the 

meeting to Spanish. 

Sturtevant provided a brief update on initiatives related to the Strategic Plan, most importantly, 

on student-driven learning. Elementary School students continue to work on the 100-book 

challenge to encourage at-school and at-home reading. School leadership have developed a 

common core standards tracking system to focus lesson plans and re-teaching on the learning 

achieved on the individual standards. To focus further on making ELA gains, students are 

reading and writing in all classes, including music, performing arts, science and athletics. 

The High School Fall Family Day took place on Saturday November 21. Parent council meetings 

were held in conjunction with monthly Parent Discovery Nights in the Elementary School and 

Middle School and as part of Family Day for High School parents. 

3. Board of Trustees Retreat 

Hyde’s Board of Trustees retreat will take place on Saturday January 9, 2016. The venue has not 

yet been determined. 

4. Development Committee 

Mr. Williams presented year-to-date fundraising results by month and category. Hyde and 

Watson agreed to a $15,000 donation and the William E. Simon foundation confirmed a $10,000 

donation. He reported that although Foundation cultivation activities will continue, he does not 

expect significant additional funding from foundations in FY16. A parent asked if fundraisers 

from parent activities were included in the fundraising totals and Mr. Williams said they were 

and asked for ideas to celebrate the parent activities. 

A meeting with the Cummings Foundation went well. Hyde had asked for two $25,000 grants. 

The Foundation responded favorably and we are hopeful of a meaningful donation, up to the full 

$50,000 ask. Mr. Fixler pointed out that the Foundation representatives asked about Board 

donations and emphasized how donations from all Board members is seen as an important metric 

Foundations look for. 

The Development Committee is recommending a Block party to commemorate the school’s 10-

year anniversary. It is tentatively scheduled for Saturday June 11, 2016. 

5. Finance Committee 

Mr. McNamara reported that the school was on track to exceed its budget for the year but has 

financial challenges as it looks forward to FY17. He informed the Board that cash expenses are 

exceeding cash revenues by less than $15,000 per month which is good performance given the 

decrease in allowable enrollments with little opportunity to offset the lost revenue with staffing 

reductions. 

6. Human Resources 

Ms. Dumont reported on meetings she is having with Mr. Sturtevant on the Strategic Plan and 

Mr. Sturtevant’s FY16 goals. She proposed an Executive Session at the December Board 
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meeting to discuss his goals. She is continuing discussion with Mr. Sturtevant on strategies for 

student-centered thinking. 

7. Marketing/Advertising/Public Relations Committee 

No report. 

8. Facilities Committee 

No report. 

9. Education Committee 

See. Human Resources Committee report above. 

10. Government Relations 

No report. 

11. Hyde Foundation 

Ms. Goubourne is working with the High School staff to re-engage Hyde parent alumni in school 

affairs. The Foundation also continues to work with the Middle School leadership on Discovery 

Group planning. 

12. Other Business 

Mr. Fixler made a plea for the Trustees to do everything they can to make the year-end 

fundraising appeal successful. 

13. Public Comments 

Mr. Fixler invited the parents present to speak. Ms. Josephine Carerra opened her remarks by 

saying how she has been a parent for 8 years and has been pleased overall with her experiences 

with the school. She asked Ms. Hittenmark to read a letter from many parents from the K-8 

school expressing concerns with teacher turnover and school culture. Mr. Fixler responded by 

thanking the parents for bringing their concerns to the Board. He assured them that teacher 

retention was a major concern of the Trustees and school leadership and received regular 

attention. Discussion continued about dissatisfaction with the cost and customer service from a 

new school uniform program the school instituted in the summer of 2015. 

Mr. Sturtevant offered to use a December 10 parent event for a follow up meeting with parents 

about their concerns. 

14. Adjournment 

There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 7:55 pm.
 

Minutes prepared by Michael McNamara
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Hyde Leadership Charter School
 
Trustees Meeting
 

December 14, 2015
 
830 Hunts Point Avenue Bronx NY 10474
 

Minutes
 

Trustees Present: Herb Fixler 

Herb Kaplan 

David Steadly 

Deborah Dumont 

Maureen Singer 

Oz Hanley 

Trustees Absent: Wilder Baker 

Dennis Mehiel 

Jeanette Melendez 

Rob Kramer 

Also present: Thomas Sturtevant, Executive Director 

Michael McNamara, Chief Operating Officer 

Joanne Goubourn, Hyde Foundation 

Josh Williams, Director of Development 

With a quorum present the meeting began at 6:04 PM, Mr. Fixler presiding. 

1. November 23, 2015 meeting minutes 

A motion was made, seconded and unanimously approved by the Trustees present to approve 

the minutes from the November 23, 2015 Board meeting. 

2. Executive Director’s Report 

Mr. Sturtevant discussed a Parent Council meeting held Thursday December 10. A group of 

parents shared concerns with communications with teachers and administrative staff, dress code 

issues and parent accountability for their piece of the Hyde culture. The Trustees were very 

interested in hearing the issues discussed and asked a number of questions to understand the 

issues better and to impress on school leadership a desire to stay in touch regularly with parents 

about these and any other concerns that may arise. An action plan to address parental concerns is 

forthcoming. 

He further reported on administrative changes at the school, including the promotion of Josh 

Williams to Director of Development. A search is well underway to hire a Director of 

Recruitment. 

Hyde-Bronx Trustee Meeting Minutes 

1 of 3 



    

 

   

 

  

 

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

  

  

   

  

 

 

  

 

 

 

   

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

Mr. Sturtevant informed the Board of 3 expulsion hearings recently. One student was expelled 

and has notified the school it plans to appeal the expulsion to Hyde’s Board of Trustees. A 

second student was expelled and the third’s status is pending a Manifestation Determination 

Review (MDR). 

Following the resignation of one of the High School’s deans of students, a planned 

reorganization of the High School leadership team was implemented. The Manager of Alumni 

Affairs replaced the Dean of Students and his former workload is being shared among three 

senior administrators. 

On December 15, Hyde is hosting the public hearing for its material charter revision request. 

That request is scheduled to be presented to the State Education Department’s Board of Regents 

at its December meeting. 

Sturtevant asked the Trustees to list their top priorities for school leadership and for the Board. 

Teacher turnover, raising academic performance and K-8 space constraints were listed as high 

priorities for school leadership. The Trustees set themselves the goals of fundraising and 

expanding board membership. 

Sturtevant described the structure and operation of the K-8 Saturday Academy.  This program is 

targeted specifically for ‘cusp’ students—those who were very close to proficiency on last year’s 

state tests. This tactical approach to raising test scores should have near-term tangible results.  

Longer term, the school has implemented a number of ongoing practices to increase academic 

rigor in the classroom and at home, increased writing and reading time in all grades and added 

focus on detailed common core standards. 

Mr. Fixler thanked Sturtevant for a very thorough description of academic initiatives. 

3. Development Committee 

Mr. Williams showed YTD November results. He pointed out pluses and minuses for fundraising 

performance to date but characterized the results as on or ahead of target for the year. He 

reported on the $100,000 grant award we received from SUNY for capital improvements at the 

High School. He updated Trustees on the Foundation pipeline and activities by the Young 

Professionals Committee, among other items. 

Mr. Fixler reminded the Trustees of the ‘give or get’ expectation for Trustees. He emphasized 

that potential funders look to see that Board members donate personally to the school as a 

demonstration of their support. 

4. Finance Committee 

Mr. McNamara reported that November results were in line with recent months’ performance 

and the school is on track to exceed its financial goals for the year. 

5. Human Resources 

No report. 
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6. Marketing/Advertising/Public Relations Committee 

No report. 

7. Facilities Committee 

No report. 

8. Education Committee 

No report. 

9. Government Relations 

No report. 

10. Hyde Foundation 

No report. 

11. Other Business 

None. 

12. Public Comments 

13. Executive Session 

A motion was made, seconded and approved unanimously by the Trustees present to enter 

Executive Session to discuss a personnel matter. At 7:53 pm, the Board exited the Executive 

Session. 

14. Adjournment 

There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 7:55 pm.
 

Minutes prepared by Michael McNamara
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Hyde Leadership Charter School
 
Trustees Meeting
 
January 9, 2016
 

410 Indian Trail Ridge Rd, Darien CT
 
Minutes
 

Trustees Present:	 Herb Fixler 

Herb Kaplan 

David Steadly 

Maureen Singer 

Oz Hanley 

Wilder Baker 

Dennis Mehiel 

Trustees Absent:	 Deborah Dumont 

Jeanette Melendez 

Rob Kramer 

Also present:	 Thomas Sturtevant, Executive Director 

Michael McNamara, Chief Operating Officer 

Joanne Goubourn, Hyde Foundation 

Cindy Warnick, Hyde Woodstock School 

With a quorum present the meeting began at 9:05 AM, Mr. Fixler presiding. 

1. December 14, 2015 meeting minutes 

A motion was made, seconded and unanimously approved by the Trustees present to approve 

the minutes from the December 14, 2015 Board meeting. 

2. Strategic Review 

Mr. Fixler set the stage for the Board meeting by explaining the meeting would follow a different 

format dispensing with regular committee reports and would instead focus on key short- and 

long-term issues affecting the school.
 

Board growth and development:
 
Mr. Baker stated his belief that the board lacks professional in public relations. Opportunities to 

promote ourselves in positive ways but expertise does not currently exist on the board.
 

Mr. Fixler suggested school needed a politically-connected South Bronx member.
 

Mr. Steadly stated that the Bronx is still a largely forgotten borough and has more difficulty than 

other low-income areas attracting charitable activity. He believes the most logical board 

members for Hyde-Bronx are through the Hyde Foundation and the Hyde boarding schools. 
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They should provide trustees (HAPAs and Hyde graduates). Fixler responded this has been an 

issue over many years. 

Sturtevant asked the trustees to first identify the characteristics desired in new trustees. (Money, 

mission-driven,etc.) 

Mr. Steadly said he has not asked anyone to join the board because his contacts resist the 

give/raise money constantly. 

Mehiel said we need skills + money in the same person. Skill without money not worth ‘burning 

a board seat’. Skills are definitely needed—in legal, real estate, finance, etc. but skills alone will 

not complete the desired board member profile. The school needs a steady stream of fundraising 

to close the gap between State and Federal revenues and the funds needed to support mission-

driven activities and higher teacher pay. Former Hyde parents fit this profile. 

Mr. Hanley wonders if we need rich people on the board or committed people on the board who 

can find people with money. 

Fixler says current make up is people committed to the mission. He wouldn’t want ‘money only’ 

people. Mehiel said this was up for discussion. What’s wrong with someone not super-

committed, wouldn’t come to board meetings, but would write big checks. 

Singer said it keeps coming back to professional fundraiser. Could be committed or not. 

Fixler says there is a leadership council for people like this. This council is for individuals who 

don’t want to be on the board but will give. Not a great success except for one individual. Baker 

said we should do an annual retreat for these guys. Fixler says we should celebrate this group, 

bring them together. 

Steadly says PR should be focused on recruiting teachers and getting us in to graduate schools. 

Mr. Baker says we can’t lose sight of individuals but Foundations are where the big money is. 

Kaplan disagrees. 

Mr. Sturtevant said best play is people connected to Hyde, committed to public education 

generally, and wealthy. 

Mr. Hanley says individual giving is tied to relationship with the board trustee as an individual, 

not the school. 

Singer asked ow do you systematically engage people with money? 

Fixler says best candidate is one who retired in PR business so can approach former, not current, 

clients. 

Hyde Foundation 

Fixler says current contract is being ‘radically modified’. What can Hyde Foundation do for us at 

this point? And what can Hyde Bronx do for the Hyde Foundation? He asked Ms. Goubourne to 

speak to this. Big component is ‘delivery’ to Hyde Bronx of new Board members. 
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Ms. Goubourne says progress from past where there was a firewall between HAPAs and Hyde 

Bronx. Ms. Goubourne now can speak to individuals she thinks would be a good fit. Finally a 

sense we are all moving together for same thing—serve more kids, more families. Big issue is 

capacity at the Foundation. Ms. Goubourne needs more clarity on what Hyde Bronx is asking of 

the Foundation. Fixler replied that the Hyde Foundation’s 50
th 

anniversary will have a lot of 

people. Allow Hyde Bronx a 30-45 minute opportunity to speak to them. Ms. Goubourne—there 

will be ‘something’ about the public schools at the 50
th 

anniversary. Need to celebrate public 

school effort. Kaplan says this is consistent with Joe Gauld’s national vision of Hyde. Ms. 

Goubourne—what is the event? Is it a presentation? Is it more than that? Malcolm says let me 

know what you want to do. 

Mr. Sturtevant stated we need to find money for things public school funds don’t fund. Ms. 

Goubourne don’t think we’d make a presentation and ask for money—another fundraising effort 

is going on by boarding schools. Joe Gauld always believed his vision should be available to 

anyone (private or public). 

Ms. Goubourne ask this board to truly reconsider its relationship with Hyde Foundation. Hyde 

Foundation is trying to have a bigger impact on public education. Ms. Goubourne stated she has 

heard Sturtevant say Hyde Bronx is the best example of an urban Hyde model. She accepts this 

in general. Ms. Goubourn stated the contract between the Foundation and Hyde Bronxis not an 

arms-length agreement for services. Mr Handley pressed on this. What would be different in the 

agreement specifically? Ms. Goubourn replied that public Hyde schools should be fed by bigger 

vision. Research, articles, etc. She didn’t have a definitive answer and asked the Trustees to help 

shape that. 

Mr. Kaplan asked what is the mission of Hyde Foundation? Ms. Goubourne replied it is to bring 

Hyde vision to more kids. Mr. Fixler if this meant through more charter schools. Ms. Goubourne 

said that for right now, the Foundation is stopping to shore up what we’ve got. Haven’t put a new 

charter out there. She stated that current academic performance at schools doesn’t warrant 

charter expansion 

Mr. Fixler asked if there any thought of revenue sharing toward Hyde Foundation from Hyde 

Bronx? Ms. Goubourne replied Foundation fundraising would have a box to direct money to 

public schools. Mr. Sturevant suggested the Foundation give thought to shifting Hyde 

Foundation role from instructional support to board development support. 

Teacher retention and stability 

Mr Fixler said two things. Leadership (which we have a lot of) and money. Has turnover gotten 

worse? Or stayed the same? What do the data say? [MAC FOLLOW UP]
 

Mr. Sturtevant: Teacher competition from DOE, other charters, higher labor costs.
 
Mr. Baker: what can we offer in professional development? Doesn’t it matter?
	
Mr. Sturtevant: Teacher retention committee: Support individual teachers’ individual 

development needs. Bigger picture—teachers who are successful stay. Virtuous cycle. 

Mr. Baker: Is there a common thread for unsuccessful teachers? Mr. Sturtevant: Yes. Lack of 

ability to manage the classroom.  Greater focus on academic outcomes putting pressure on them 

too. Mission-aligned staff stay. Demanding and limited market. 
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Mr Fixler said hiring practices in the past haven’t been as successful as they should have been. 

What are doing to improve that? Don’t have Recruitment director right now, what are we
	
changing in recruitment process?
 
Mr. Sturtevant: Staff in it for the long haul identify with our community and are aligned with the
 
mission. 

Mr Fixler said Single most issue is pay scale?
 
Mr. Sturtevant: Yes. Need to look at how to do better with fewer staff. Board can help 

identifying our unique characteristics. 

Mr. Baker: Go back to individual giving…have individuals underwrite specific staff PD ideas.
	

Keep Character Culture Alive 

Mr Fixler said Hyde culture is the reason trustees are here and underpins everything at the 

school. Hasn’t spent enough time at the school to have his own data to state Hyde culture is alive 

at the school. Just doesn’t know. Mr. Hanley agreed. 

Mr. Hanley: Have FED department report to the board. 

Mr. Sturtevant: Come to Discovery night.
 
HK: Forum to talk to teachers? Students?
 
Mr. Sturtevant: Board needs to operate at a higher level. Could talk to students but due to 

governance, reporting relationships…board shouldn’t meet with teachers.
	
Ms. Singer: Heard about Hyde through Staci and YPC. She came to YPC/student session about 

college application process. YPC more engaged with the school. Board engagement less 

tangible. More strategic at Board level. 

Mr. Sturtevant: What about sending monthly calendar to board with activities they could attend?
 

Leadership Growth and Continuity 

Mr. Fixler: Board should be thinking about this. Tom should discuss what current players might 

be candidates to replace him and how should we help them develop?
 
Mr. Sturtevant: 3 candidates for ED. HS candidates exist. No viable internal candidates for ES, 

Ms. Singer Director, COO. 

Mr. Fixler: How do we develop ED skills in key staff?
 
Mr. Sturtevant: Great question. Need to think about it?
 
Mr. Hanley: What would happen if Tom disappeared tomorrow?
 
Mr. Sturtevant: first, ask Celia. 

Mr. Fixler: Acting ED (someone from within), hire the search firm….Tom should designate who 

his interim replacement should be and let the Board know.
 

Long Range 

Mr. Fixler: Wholly-owned sub of Civic owns the building. Financing was provided by Civic, 

LIIF and Goldman. Lots of ways we could refinance a takeout—bonds…
	
Mr. Hanley: We should be able to find mortgage (recorded). 


Bryant Avenue: 

Mr. Fixler: No great ideas. Sturtevant and McNamara should put together a list of things in the
 
building we want. Maybe we can find someone to pay attention. 


Board Survey 
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Mr. Fixler disseminated and led a discussion of the Trustee’s self-assessments of the Board’s 

effective across a range of topics. Trustees generally challenged themselves to do better on 

determining a cohesive fundraising strategy but felt they met or exceeded their obligations on 

fiduciary responsibility, school leadership performance and strategic vision. 

3.	 Public Comments 

None. 

4.	 Adjournment 

There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 12:55 pm. 

Minutes prepared by Michael McNamara 
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Hyde-Bronx Trustee Meeting Minutes
 
Hyde Leadership Charter School
 

Trustees Meeting
 
February 22, 2016
 

830 Hunts Point Avenue Bronx NY 10474
 
Minutes
 

Trustees Present:	 Herb Fixler 

Deborah Dumont 

Maureen Singer 

Oz Hanley 

Jeanette Melendez 

Dennis Mehiel 

Wilder Baker 

Trustees Absent:	 Herb Kaplan 

David Steadly 

Also present:	 Thomas Sturtevant, Executive Director 

Josh Williams, Director of Development and Communications 

With a quorum present the meeting began at 6:06 PM, Mr. Fixler presiding. 

1. January 9, 2016 meeting minutes 

A motion was made, seconded, and unanimously approved by the Trustees present to 

approve the minutes from the January 9, 2016 Board meeting.
 

2. Executive Director’s Report 

Mr. Sturtevant discussed the success of Hyde’s summer learning programs, including data 

regarding students’ literacy growth over summer months. Mr. Sturtevant noted the 

importance of quality teachers, structured curriculum, and inquiry-based methods of 

instruction allowing for student choice. Mr. Sturtevant also identified that attendance rates at 

Hyde’s 2015 summer program met or exceeded both prior year’s attendance and the New 

York City summer school attendance average. Members of the Board recommended that this 

positive information be communicated with Hyde teachers and families. 

Mr. Sturtevant informed the Board that Hyde Elementary School Director Peter Anderson 

has accepted a position with Washington Latin Public Charter School in Washington D.C. for 



  

   

 

  

 

   

 

 

 

 

     

  

 

  

 

   

  

 

  

 

    

 

  

 

 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

the 2016-2017 school year.  Hyde will be using this transition as an opportunity to engage 

teachers and parents in the search for a new Elementary School Director. 

Mr. Sturtevant reported that the Department of Education will likely visit Hyde in March for 

its annual site visit; details are still pending. Hyde’s request for additional enrollment is also 

still under consideration at the State Department of Education. 

Mr. Sturtevant reported that Laura Troy has been promoted to Director of Recruitment. Ms. 

Troy has years of experience as a Hyde High School math teacher and department head. She 

has effectively transitioned into her new role. 

th th
Mr. Sturtevant informed the Board of a recent incident during Hyde’s 4 and 5 grade 

students’ recess, in which a flasher outside of the playground fence approached a small group 

of children and revealed himself. Hyde school leaders worked with the police and other 

schools in the building to ensure the safety of all children. A shelter in drill was conducted 

February 26 building wide to reinforce protocols for potentially dangerous situations outside 

the school building. Mr. Sturtevant reported that we will continue to coordinate with the 

other schools in the building on our on-going safety planning and practice. 

3. Development Committee 

Mr. Williams showed YTD January results. He indicated that while fundraising started strong 

for the year, November through December fundraising was lower than expected. Mr. 

Williams expressed that while foundation and grant giving was up for the year, individual 

and board giving was below expected. Mr. Fixler encouraged the Board to finish strong and 

to make contributions to the school. 

Mr. Williams reported on recent development activity, including a $50,000 gift from The 

Frances L. & Edwin L. Cummings Memorial Fund that was recently received for support of 

Hyde’s Kindergarten ICT program. He updated the trustees on other development and 

communications activity, such as an outstanding grant request to The AthLife Foundation, 

personalized thank you notes that were delivered to all donors, and upgrades to the website. 

Mr. Fixler encouraged Hyde to create a short promotional video that articulates the mission 

and the success of the school. 

Mr. Fixler, Ms. Singer, and Mr. Baker volunteered to form a Website Committee to provide 

feedback and ideas regarding the new Hyde website currently under construction. 

4. Finance Committee 



 

  

   

 

 

  

 

   

 

  

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

  

 

  

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

  

 

In Mr. McNamara’s absence, Mr. Sturtevant reported that January results were in line with 

recent months’ performance. He also conveyed a note from Mr. McNamara, “Hyde received 

a payment from DOE this morning of $2,588,180. This is the 5th of 6 bi-monthly payments 

for General Education and Special Education services in FY16. The payment is down $1,696 

from the last one. General Education enrollment is at 934 students—below Hyde’s current 

940 cap. The school is not taking new students so that will carry forward. Special Education 

revenue is up as Liz Springer, Director of the Special Education Department, continues to get 

approval for Special Education services for students who need them.” 

5. Human Resources 

No report. 

6. Marketing/Advertising/Public Relations Committee 

No report. 

7. Facilities Committee 

No report. 

8. Education Committee 

Mr. Fixler requested an update regarding an earlier Trustee meeting, in which attending Hyde 

parents expressed concern over a variety of issues, including school uniform policies, the 

clarity of communications, and support for new teachers. Mr. Sturtevant indicated that these 

issues are currently being resolved by School Directors and that the Parent Council has been 

established as a forum for responding to parent concerns. 

9. Government Relations 

No report. 

10. Hyde Foundation 

No report. 

11. Other Business 



 

 

  

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

  

 

  

 

  

None. 

12. Public Comments 

None. 

13. Executive Session 

N/A 

14. Adjournment 

There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 7:34 pm. 

Minutes prepared by Josh Williams. 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

 

    

    

  

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

  

 

  

   

 

  

 

 

 

  

Hyde-Bronx Trustee Meeting Minutes
 
Hyde Leadership Charter School
 

Trustees Meeting
 
March 21, 2016
 

830 Hunts Point Avenue Bronx NY 10474
 
Minutes
 

Trustees Present:	 Herb Fixler 

Herb Kaplan 

Deborah Dumont 

Maureen Singer 

Oz Hanley 

Dennis Mehiel 

Wilder Baker 

David Steadly 

Trustees Absent:	 Jeanette Melendez 

Also present:	 Thomas Sturtevant, Executive Director 

Mike McNamara, Chief Operating Officer 

Josh Williams, Director of Development and Communications 

Richard Romanoff, Nebraskaland, Chief Executive Officer 

Florentina Cruz, Hyde Parent 

Larry Cruz, Hyde Sibling 

Rumina Munoz, Hyde Parent 

With a quorum present the meeting began at 6:05 PM, Mr. Fixler presiding. 

1. February 22, 2016 meeting minutes 

A motion was made, seconded, and unanimously approved by the Trustees present to 

approve the minutes from the February 22, 2016 Board meeting.
 

2. Executive Director’s Report 

Mr. Sturtevant discussed the progress that has been made in the search for an Elementary 

School Director for the 2016-2017 schoolyear. Mr. Sturtevant has collaborated with Hyde 

parents, teachers, staff, and the Board to create a position description and summary of the key 

characteristics the school is seeking in its new ES Director, and is now working with Hyde’s 



 

 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

  

  

 

 

 

 

   

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

   

   

Director of Recruitment, Senior Leadership Team, and the global search firm Carney, 

Sandoe, and Associates, in recruiting qualified candidates. 

Mr. Sturtevant also indicated that in the process of considering the elementary school senior 

leadership opportunity, a decision was made to re-configure the Hyde elementary and middle 

school divisional structures; in 2016-2017 Hyde Elementary School will serve students in 
rd th th

kindergarten through 3 grade, and Hyde Middle School will serve students in 4 through 8

grade. This change will balance the weight of each school division, align better with the 

physical space in the building, ensure that each school director is empowered to be physically 

present within their school, and create a more logical, welcoming environment for Hyde 

families. 

Mr. Sturtevant welcomed the input of Hyde parents Ms. Florentina Cruz and Ms. Rumina 

Munoz, who had come to speak to their hopes and ideas for the school, as summarized in the 

Public Comments portion of the minutes. 

Mr. Sturtevant distributed a report from the Hyde High School college office, including 

updates on Hyde graduates’ college matriculation rates and college persistence rates. The 

report noted that as of March 21, 2016, 95% of Hyde’s Class of 2016 has applied to college 

and 89% of applicants have been accepted into one or more colleges. Mr. Sturtevant 

mentioned that SAT preparation has become more of a focus for Hyde High School, as this 

exam is a key pathway for opportunity. 

Board Trustee Deborah Dumont inquired if the school has any interest in providing 

additional practice tests to students throughout the schoolyear. Mr. Sturtevant communicated 

the school’s commitment to its current testing systems, including consistent application of 

the nationally-normed NWEA assessment, and expressed hesitancy to over-test students 

throughout the year. 

Mr. Sturtevant summarized an elementary school project in which Hyde students 

collaborated to replicate the Empire State Building in Legos, using this as an example for 

strong, inquiry-based academic instruction. Mr. Sturtevant also reviewed the recent Hyde 

High School Senior Retreat, in which a majority of Hyde’s Class of 2016 attended an off-site 

retreat to discuss their personal growth, progress, and visions for themselves. 

Mr. Sturtevant communicated that the school had not yet received word regarding its request 

to the Board of Regents for additional enrollment spaces, but he expected after the March or 

April Board of Regents meetings. Mr. Sturtevant also expressed that the NYC Department of 

Education will not be physically visiting the school this year for its annual review, but will be 

completing a remote review, or “desk audit”. 



  

 

  

  

 

 

 

  

    

  

  

 

 

    

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

  

  

  

 

  

 

 

 

   

 

  

 

 

 

  

 

 

3. Development Committee 

Mr. Williams showed YTD February results. He reminded the Board that while foundation 

and corporate giving has been strong, working to meet fundraising goals across all funding 

categories is critical, including individual and Board giving. Mr. Williams also indicated that 

Board fundraising totals would increase markedly in March, due to the recent generosity 

several board members.  

Mr. Williams reported on recent development activity, including a $5,000 gift from The 

AthLife Foundation that was recently approved for support of Hyde’s student-athletes. He 

updated the Trustees on other development and communications activity, such as an 

outstanding grant request to City Council, a letter of inquiry distributed to The Charles 

Hayden Foundation, upgrades to the website, as well as upcoming fundraising and 

promotional events. 

Mr. William suggested Hyde host a Spring Open House in May and the Board unanimously 

approved. 

Hyde Board Chair Herb Fixler suggested that when a working version of the Hyde website is 

ready, the Board should be provided a demonstration. Mr. Williams agreed. 

4. Finance Committee 

Mr. McNamara reported that February’s financial results were consistent with the school’s 

performance year-to-date. Mr. McNamara projected that the school would have a favorable 

budget variance of approximately $500,000 for the fiscal year. 

5. Human Resources 

Ms. Dumont reported that she has been in collaboration with Mr. Sturtevant in the search for 

a new Elementary School Director, including conversations with teachers and staff regarding 

the needs of the elementary school and distinct characteristics desired of its incoming leader. 

6. Marketing/Advertising/Public Relations Committee 

No report. 

7. Facilities Committee 

No report. 



 

  

 

 

 

  

 

  

 

 

   

 

 

  

 

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

   

 

8. Education Committee 

Ms. Dumont reported that she and Mr. Sturtevant recently conducted a school visit with 

Cynthia McCallister, an early childhood education professor at New York University, in 

order to review the pedagogical practices of Hyde Elementary School. Ms. McCallister, Ms. 

Dumont, and Mr. Sturtevant discussed best practices in promoting “Learning Cultures”, a 

student-centered approach to learning. 

9. Government Relations 

Mr. Mehiel reported that Hyde High School recently invited a variety of local political 

leaders to attend its Hunts Point 2030 Community Discussion to be held on Friday, April 8
th

. 

The event will be an opportunity for Hyde students to discuss with local political and CBO 

leaders the future of the Hunts Point community. Mr. Mehiel and Mr. Williams are currently 

reaching out to local political leaders, such as the Office of Borough President Ruben Diaz, 

to invite them to the event. 

10. Hyde Foundation 

No report. 

11. Other Business 

Mr. Hanley reported that he will be attending the Hyde School 50
th 

Anniversary Celebration 

on Saturday, June 4
th

. Mr. Hanley and Mr. Williams are collaborating on information to 

present to the guests of the boarding school event, as a means to encourage further 

collaboration and support among the schools. 

12. Public Comments 

Hyde parents Florentina Cruz and Rumina Munoz were present, as well as Hyde sibling 

Larry Cruz, who acted as translator. At Mr. Sturtevant’s invitation, Ms. Cruz and Ms. Munoz 

communicated their hopes for the new Hyde Elementary School Director and ideas for 

strengthening the school. Ms. Cruz and Ms. Munoz expressed a desire for the school to 

continue to hire excellent teachers committed to Hyde’s long-term mission, to continue 

investing in student-family-teacher relationships and communication systems, and to offer 

additional supports for Hyde families so that they are best able to support students’ academic 

growth. 



 

 

 

 

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

 

 

  

 

  

 

    

Mr. Sturtevant and the Board thanked Ms. Cruz and Ms. Munoz for their thoughtful 

feedback. Mr. Sturtevant indicated that the Hyde Senior Leadership Team is currently 

working on these important initiatives, including high-quality teacher recruitment and 

retention, best practice communication systems, and skill-building Family Education 

Department events. 

13. Executive Session 

The Board of Trustees went into Executive Session at 8:20 pm to discuss a personnel matter. 

14. Return From Executive Session 

The Board of Trustees returned to Open Session at 8:50 pm. 

15. Adjournment 

There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 8:50 pm.
 

Minutes prepared by Joshua Williams.
 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

    

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

    

    

  

  

 

 

 

  

 

  

 

  

   

 

  

 

  

  

 

 

Hyde-Bronx Trustee Meeting Minutes
 
Hyde Leadership Charter School
 

Trustees Meeting
 
April 18, 2016
 

830 Hunts Point Avenue Bronx NY 10474
 
Minutes
 

Trustees Present:	 Herb Fixler 

Herb Kaplan 

Deborah Dumont 

Maureen Singer 

Wilder Baker 

Jeanette Melendez 

Trustees Absent:	 Oz Hanley 

Dennis Mehiel 

David Steadly 

Also present:	 Thomas Sturtevant, Executive Director 

Mike McNamara, Chief Operating Officer 

Josh Williams, Director of Development and Communications 

Joanne Goubourn, Executive Director, Hyde Foundation 

Richard Romanoff, Guest 

Ting Chen, Young Professionals Committee 

With a quorum present the meeting began at 6:03 PM, Mr. Fixler presiding. 

1. March 21, 2016 meeting minutes 

A motion was made, seconded, and unanimously approved by the Trustees present to 

approve the minutes from the March 21, 2016 Board meeting. 

2. Finance Committee 

Mr. McNamara reported that Hyde’s medical renewal from Tri-Net will be a 10.6% increase 

from the prior year, an increased cost of approximately $100,000. The school will be 

increasing both employee and employee premiums by this percentage to account for the 

change, and the school will be renewing with Tri-Net on July 1
st
. 



    

  

 

 

  

 

  

 

 

 

 

  

 

  

  

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

   

 

 

 

  

 

Mr. McNamara reported that the school experienced a negative financial variance in the 

month of March due to building renovations and repairs, costs that will be reimbursed by a 

grant awarded by the State University of New York. 

3. Executive Director’s Report 

Mr. Sturtevant reported on faculty retention. Mr. Sturtevant noted that teachers will be 

receiving their offer letters on Friday, April 22
nd 

and indicated that a larger proportion of 

teachers are expected to return than in prior years. Mr. Kaplan suggested that Mr. Sturtevant 

meet personally with individual teachers uncertain of their plans to return, as an effort to 

positively influence their decision. 

Mr. Sturtevant reported on the school’s search for a new Elementary School Director. Mr. 

Sturtevant noted that he and the staff advisory committee are excited about the candidates 

under review, and that 3 finalists are under consideration. Following the school’s spring 

break, candidates will visit the school, interview with staff and undergo performance tasks 

aligned to the roles and responsibilities of school director. Mr. Sturtevant indicated that the 

school’s goal is to have a hiring decision made by the end of May. 

Mr. Sturtevant reported that the grades 3 - 8 state tests are now complete and that Hyde 

teachers feel positive about students’ performance. Mr. Sturtevant noted that 6 students and 

their families chose to opt-out from taking the tests, a small fraction of Hyde’s grades 3-8 

population. Mr. Sturtevant also reported that politically, the Department of Education appears 

to be leaning away from high stakes exams.  

Mr. Sturtevant mentioned that the school is evaluating its schedule for next school year, and 

is considering a revised structure in which the official school day ends at 3:00 pm, providing 

more time for teachers to plan, for clubs, and for targeted enrichment/intervention. 

Mr. Sturtevant noted that Ms. E is currently working with a parent group to identify a brick-

and-mortar store for the sale of Hyde-Bronx uniforms. 

Mr. Sturtevant reported that discipline challenges have tangentially impacted Hyde students; 

MS 424 student fights have been on the rise and a shooting in the neighborhood was also 

recently reported. Mr. Sturtevant expressed that he and other members of Hyde’s Senior 

Leadership Team are in regular communication with school security and MS 424 school 

leaders in a shared effort to keep students safe. 

4. Development Committee 



  

  

 

 

 

  

 

 

   

  

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

  

 

  

   

 

  

 

 

 

  

 

Mr. Williams showed YTD March results. He encouraged the Board to meet their personal 

commitments to charitable giving, and to inspire their “Last Year But Unfortunately Not This 

Year” colleagues to make year-end contributions. 

Mr. Williams reported that he and Mr. Kaplan are collaborating to solicit contributions from 

local Hunts Point businesses in support of Hyde-Bronx’s graduation program. As a result, 

Mr. Williams noted that he expects corporate giving to increase by year-end. 

Mr. Williams updated the Trustees on other development and communications activity, such 

as an outstanding grant request to City Council, a letter of inquiry distributed to The Charles 

Hayden Foundation, upgrades to the website, as well as upcoming fundraising and 

promotional events. 

Mr. Williams inquired who should be invited to graduation; the Board recommended that all 

donors and supporters should be provided with an invitation to Hyde-Bronx’s graduation 

ceremony in June. 

5. Human Resources 

Ms. Dumont complemented the Executive Director’s report, indicating that finalists for the 

Elementary School Director search will be interviewed following the school’s spring break. 


6. Marketing/Advertising/Public Relations Committee 

Mr. Williams noted that D’Arrigo Bros. Co. of New York will be visiting Hyde-Bronx on 

Tuesday, May 17
th 

in an effort to highlight their ongoing support of the school. 

7. Facilities Committee 

Mr. Sturtevant noted that the 4
th 

floor of 730 Bryant Avenue is being painted over the 

summer. This project will be completed in an effort to distinguish the new Hyde Middle 
th th

School, serving students from 4 through 8 grade. 

8. Education Committee 

No report. 

9. Government Relations 



  

 

 

 

  

 

  

  

 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

    

Mr. Williams reported that Councilmember Salamanca has been invited to visit Hyde-Bronx 

with Matthew D’Arrigo on May 17, 2016. Mr. Williams will inquire with Councilmember 

Salamanca about the status of Hyde-Bronx’s $10,000 discretionary funding request at that 

time 

10. Hyde Foundation 

Ms. Goubourn reported that Oz Hanley will be present at the Hyde-Bath 50
th 

anniversary on 

June 2
nd 

and will present the progress of Hyde-Bronx. 

Ms. Goubourn noted that Hyde-Bronx conducted its first Hyde Alumni Parents Association 

meeting. The group is interested in fundraising for the school and providing their feedback 

on post-secondary success. 

Ms. Goubourn expressed that the Hyde School in New Haven is currently changing its name 

to Creed Health and Sport Sciences High School.  

11. Other Business 

No report. 

12. Public Comments 

Ms. Chen inquired about how Hyde-Bronx selects students for its Saturday Academy. Mr. 

Sturtevant indicated that Saturday Academy was established as a targeted intervention for 

children approaching proficiency in math and ELA, and that the program was offered as a 

voluntary option for children and their families. 

13. Adjournment 

There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 7:40 pm.
 

Minutes prepared by Joshua Williams.
 



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
   

    
 

 
 

 
  

 
 

  
 

    
    

  
  

 
 

 
 

   
 

  
 

 
  

 
  

 

 

Hyde-Bronx Trustee Meeting Minutes
 
Hyde Leadership Charter School
 

Trustees Meeting
 
May 23, 2016
 

830 Hunts Point Avenue Bronx NY 10474
 
Minutes
 

Trustees Present:	 Herb Fixler 
Herb Kaplan 
Oz Hanley 
Dennis Mehiel 
Maureen Singer 
Wilder Baker 
Jeanette Melendez 
David Steadly 

Trustees Absent:	 Deborah Dumont 

Also present:	 Thomas Sturtevant, Executive Director 
Mike McNamara, Chief Operating Officer 
Josh Williams, Director of Development and Communications 
Joanne Goubourn, Executive Director, Hyde Foundation 
Michelle Lopez, Charter School Business Management 
Richard Romanoff, Guest 
Amir Asadi, Guest 

With a quorum present the meeting began at 6:02 PM, Mr. Steadly presiding. 

1. April 18, 2016 meeting minutes 

A motion was made, seconded, and unanimously approved by the Trustees present to 

approve the minutes from the April 18, 2016 Board meeting.
 

2. Nominating Committee 

While Mr. Romanoff was asked to wait outside of the meeting, the Board discussed Mr. 
Romanoff’s candidacy for Board membership. A motion was made, seconded, and 
unanimously approved by the Trustees to approve Mr. Richard Romanoff for Board 
membership, effective May 23, 2016. Mr. Romanoff returned to the meeting and was warmly 
welcomed by his fellow Board Trustees.  



 
 

  
 

 
  

 

  
 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 

3. Executive Director’s Report 

Mr. Sturtevant summarized a number of Hyde-Bronx stories reflecting a character-based 
culture that is alive and well at the school. These included a middle school team that is 
working with a Hyde-Bronx student and family to reflect on hurtful comments made toward 
others, Hyde-Bronx high school students who have collaborated with City Councilmember 
Rafael Salamanca to improve safety in the neighborhood, and a Hyde-Bronx 1st grade teacher 
who is working with students to strengthen their growth mindsets. 

Mr. Sturtevant reported that under the leadership of Ms. Elizabeth Hittenmark and the Hyde-
Bronx parent council, uniforms will now be available for purchase at storefronts in the area, 
rather than just online. This meaningful change was initiated based on parent feedback earlier 
this school year. 

Mr. Sturtevant indicated that the Elementary School Director search is nearing its final 
stages. Three finalists were brought to the school for a thorough interview, and one finalist is 
being considered for hire. An offer will likely be made by May 27, 2016 following final 
reference checks. 

Ms. Singer questioned whether there was a contingency plan in the event that the finalist 
decided not to accept Hyde-Bronx’s offer. Mr. Sturtevant replied that additional internal and 
external candidates are currently being cultivated, and that a viable candidate will be selected 
by year end. 

Mr. Hanley asked if additional resources were needed for recruitment. Mr. Sturtevant replied 
that the school’s current budget is more than adequate for securing a top-tier school leader. 

Mr. Sturtevant reported on faculty retention and indicated that 74 of the 79 teachers asked to 
return to Hyde-Bronx in 2016-2017 have currently accepted their offer letters, a marked 
improvement from prior years. Mr. Sturtevant attributes the retention success to the school’s 
leadership and ongoing efforts to improve retention, including longevity bonuses for teachers 
with 5 or more years of service to the school, a staff-led Faculty Retention Committee 
working in collaboration with Hyde-Bronx’s Senior Leadership Team, a $25,000 investment 
in Faculty Fellowships to promote teacher autonomy and teamwork, a restructured K-8 
space, and efforts to promote additional planning time for teachers. 

In alignment with efforts to provide additional planning time for teachers and more targeted 
enrichment and remediation instruction, Mr. Sturtevant requested that the Board approve a 



 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

   

 
 

 
   

   
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

   

 

 
 

 
 

 

material change to Hyde-Bronx’s charter document, enabling the school to dismiss students 
at 3:00 pm beginning in August of 2016. Mr. Sturtevant summarized the benefits of such a 
change, including additional planning time for teachers, additional time for targeted 
remediation and enrichment activities during the 3:00 pm – 4:00 pm hours, and a likely 
improvement in disciplinary challenges which increase for younger students in the late 
afternoon hours. 

Mr. Mehiel motioned, Mr. Hanley seconded the motion, and all Trustees voted in favor of 
approving a change to Hyde-Bronx’s charter document allowing the school to dismiss 
students at 3:00 pm beginning in August of 2016, and enabling Mr. Sturtevant and Mr. 
McNamara to work with the New York City Department of Education to execute this charter 
revision on behalf of the Hyde-Bronx Board of Trustees. 

4. Finance Committee 

Mr. McNamara reported on the status of Hyde-Bronx’s year-to-date financial performance 
and noted that the school currently has a budget surplus for the year-to-date figures through 
April 2016. 

Mr. McNamara introduced Ms. Michelle Lopez, a Director with Charter School Business 
Management. Ms. Lopez has been contracted to support the school’s financial operations 
three days per week while Mr. McNamara is working remotely to strengthen his health. 

Mr. McNamara reviewed and proposed a budget for the 2017 fiscal year. Following a 
thorough review, Mr. Baker motioned, Mr. Hanley seconded the motion, and all Trustees 
voted in favor of approving the 2017 budget proposed by Mr. McNamara.  

5. Development Committee 

Mr. Williams showed YTD April results. He projected that the fundraising totals for the year 
would exceed the annual fundraising target, based on Board giving commitments. Mr. 
Williams encouraged the Board to meet their personal commitments to charitable giving, to 
inspire their “Last Year But Unfortunately Not This Year” colleagues to make year-end 
contributions, and to invite friends and colleagues to Hyde-Bronx’s graduation ceremony on 
June 25th, 2016. 

Mr. Williams reported that he and Mr. Kaplan are collaborating to solicit contributions from 
local Hunts Point businesses in support of Hyde-Bronx’s graduation program. Mr. Williams 
noted that in the month of May, local business leaders Omni Foods and D’Arrigo Bros. Co. 
of New York had collectively pledged to donate $20,000 to the school. 



 
 

  
 

  
 

 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
  

 
 

  
 
  

 
 

 
  

 
 

  
 

 

Mr. Williams updated the Trustees on other development and communications activity, such 
the success of recent events at the school, the forthcoming edition of Character Matters, and 
a website revitalization project that is being completed with the partnership of Rodriguez 
Valle Creative. 

Mr. Fixler recommended that Board of Trustees contribute a full-page ad in Hyde-Bronx’s 
commencement ceremonies, including a $1,000 contribution. The Board indicated their 
support, and Mr. Williams was instructed to draft a message to students on behalf of the 
Hyde-Bronx Board of Trustees. 

6. Human Resources 

Mr. Sturtevant reminded the Board that an offer will be made to a finalist candidate for the 
Elementary School Directorship within the next 2-3 business days. 

7. Marketing/Advertising/Public Relations Committee 

Mr. Baker indicated that he is soliciting colleagues at The New York Times to feature 
coverage of Hyde-Bronx, although thus far these efforts have been unsuccessful. 

8. Facilities Committee 

No report. 

9. Education Committee 

Mr. Sturtevant reminded the Board that an offer will be made to a finalist candidate for the 
Elementary School Directorship within the next 2-3 business days. 

10. Government Relations 

No report. 

11. Hyde Foundation 

Ms. Goubourn reported that the Hyde Foundation is excited to be celebrating the Hyde-Bath 
50th Anniversary the weekend of June 4th. Ms. Goubourn indicated that Mr. Hanley will be 
speaking on behalf of Hyde-Bronx, to promote the success of our school and encourage 
additional support. 



 
  

 
 

 
  
 

  

 
 

  
 

   
 

   

12. Other Business 

No report. 

13. Public Comments 

Mr.Asadi asked the Board how the school tracks its reserves. Mr. Sturtevant responded that 
the schools financial reserves are reported in audited financial statement in accordance with 
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles. 

14. Adjournment 

There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 8:02 pm. 

Minutes prepared by Joshua Williams. 



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
   

    
 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
 

 
    

    
     

  
 

 
   

 
   

 
 

  
 

  
 

 

   
 

Hyde-Bronx Trustee Meeting Minutes
 
Hyde Leadership Charter School
 

Trustees Meeting
 
June 27, 2016
 

830 Hunts Point Avenue Bronx NY 10474
 
Minutes
 

Trustees Present:	 Herb Fixler 
Herb Kaplan 
Oz Hanley 
Wilder Baker 
David Steadly 

Trustees Absent:	 Deborah Dumont 
Dennis Mehiel 
Maureen Singer 
Jeanette Melendez 
Richard Romanoff 

Also present:	 Thomas Sturtevant, Executive Director 
Amaris Obregon, Elementary School Director 
Josh Williams, Director of Development and Communications 
Michelle Lopez, Charter School Business Management 
Ruth Jarmul, Guest 

The meeting began at 6:05 PM, Mr. Fixler presiding. 

1. May 23, 2016 meeting minutes 

A motion was made, seconded, and unanimously approved by the Trustees present to 
approve the minutes from the May 23, 2016 Board meeting. 

2. Executive Director’s Report 

Mr. Sturtevant updated the Board regarding the progress of the school’s initiative to modify 
the timing of the school day in 2016-2017. Mr. Sturtevant reported that the Department of 
Education approved the change in schedule and the bus logistics have been worked out; in 
2016-2017 the K-12 school day will run from 8:00 am – 3:10 pm 



 

 
  

 
 

  

 
 

 
   

   
 

   
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

   

Mr. Sturtevant provided updates regarding charter-related activity in the New York state 
government. Mr. Sturtevant reported that charter schools have a one-time opportunity to 
change authorizers, and also that recent legislation was passed allowing SUNY-authorized 
charters to modify operational regulations. The language and implications surrounding this 
legislation has been vague, and the school will continue to be attentive to new developments. 

Mr. Sturtevant summarized the success of the school, as evidenced by Hyde-Bronx’s 
graduation ceremony on June 25, 2016. 94% of the Class of 2016 graduated on time, and 
their speeches included themes of independence, growth, and social justice. Mr. Sturtevant 
remarked that Celia Sosa (High School Director) has done an excellent job this year. He also 
noted that the Class of 2016 had the highest rate of Advanced Regents diplomas of any 
Hyde-Bronx class to date (17%). Mr. Sturtevant noted that 95% of the gradates have enrolled 
in college, and that the Alumni Affairs team will provide a more thorough report on alumni 
progress at the July Board meeting. 

Mr. Sturtevant reported that, at the middle school level, 100% of 8th graders took 3 Regents 
level classes – Algebra, U.S. History, and Living Environment. Approximately 40% of 8th 

grade students earned college-ready scores on their U.S. History and Living Environment 
exams, doubling the total number of 8th grader students achieving this. Hyde Middle School 
continues to push rigor and higher-level skills to prepare students for college and for life. 

Mr. Sturtevant introduced Hyde Elementary School Director Amaris Obregon, who will be 
leading the school in 2016-2017 and recently completed her 5th day as a team member. Mr. 
Sturtevant then invited Ms. Obregon to share her experiences as an educator, and what 
attracted her to Hyde-Bronx. 

Ms. Obregon gave a brief summary of her work and life experience, including roles as an 
elementary school teacher, counselor, charter school consultant, school leader, and most 
recently, Director of Teaching and Learning at an international school in Sao Paulo, Brazil. 
Ms. Obregon conveyed her excitement to be joining the team, as well as the key 
opportunities for growth she sees in the school. 

Mr. Sturtevant remarked on the status of Hyde’s Signature Practices. Mr. Sturtevant reported 
that this year Hyde-Bronx has continued to authentically employ numerous Signature 
Practices, including concern meetings, EEMO (effort) rubrics, faculty evaluations, senior 
evaluations, admissions interviews, and more. 

Mr. Sturtevant concluded his report by noting that, as a component of the strategic planning 
process, he is considering how to best promote a school culture in which students take 
ownership over Hyde-Bronx’s character culture.  



 
  

 
   

 
 

 
   

  
 

 
 

  
 

  
 

   

 
  

 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 

3. Finance Committee 

Ms. Lopez reported on the status of Hyde-Bronx’s year-to-date financial performance and 
noted that the school currently has a budget surplus for the year-to-date figures through May 
2016. 

Ms. Lopez pointed out that while the Medical Insurance line item appears at a budget deficit 
for the month, this is primarily attributable to the timing of premium payments. 

Ms. Lopez noted that the school’s finances are in good condition as the business team works 
to close out the year, and that based on her experience working with other charter schools via 
her organization, Hyde-Bronx has impressive, highly-functioning systems, including 
appropriate paperwork. 

4. Development Committee 

Mr. Williams showed YTD May results. He projected that the fundraising totals for the year 
would exceed the annual fundraising target, based on Board giving commitments. Mr. 
Williams noted that while May contributions appeared below average, a substantial deposit 
was made in the 1st week of June, which included the majority of these contributions. 

Mr. Williams reported that the school was recently approved of a $5,000 grant from The 
New Yankee Stadium Community Benefits Fund, as well as a $5,000 contribution for the 
New York City Council, both in support of Hyde-Bronx’s summer programs. Mr. Williams 
indicated that he is currently completing the necessary forms and coursework in order to 
ensure that Hyde-Bronx receives funds from the City Council. 

Mr. Williams noted that the school raised $23,300 from local business in support of the 
school’s graduation program campaign. Mr. Williams indicated that this was a substantial 
increase from years past, and that in addition to gifts from new companies, many of the 
companies supporting the school have increased their tiers of giving. 

Mr. Williams reported that a revised school website is currently being constructed by 
Rodriguez Valle Creative, a website design firm. A draft of the website will be available to 
test in the 1st week of July, and the website will go live by July 31, 2016. 

In addition to upcoming communications, Mr. Williams indicated that he plans to submit a 
variety of grant requests, including proposals to The Hyde and Watson Foundation and The 
Bronx Rotary Club. 



 
  

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 

 
 

  
 

 

  
 

  
 

5. Human Resources 

No report. 

6. Marketing/Advertising/Public Relations Committee 

No report. 

7. Facilities Committee 

Mr. Steadly reported that the Class of 2016 signatures plaque would be installed over the 
summer. 

8. Education Committee 

No report. 

9. Government Relations 

Mr. Fixler encouraged the school to invite local political leaders, such as Borough President 
Ruben Diaz, Jr., State Senator Reverend Ruben Diaz, Sr., and City Council Member Rafael 
Salamanca, Jr., to attend the Hyde-Bronx 10th anniversary celebration on Saturday, October 
15th . 

10. Hyde Foundation 

Mr. Fixler reported that Hyde-Bronx and the Hyde Foundation are currently negotiating their 
partnership agreement. 

11. Other Business 

Mr. Hanley reported on his visit to the Hyde-Bath 50th Anniversary Celebration. Mr. Hanley 
indicated that he was able to speak with approximately 45 people about the success of Hyde-
Bronx, and that a handful of guests indicated an interest in supporting the school. Mr. Hanley 
will continue to cultivate these relationships. 

12. Public Comments 



Ms. Jarmul expressed her appreciation for the school, and encouraged the school to continue 
its efforts to empower children and families in the South Bronx.  

 
13. Adjournment 
 

There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 7:40 pm.  
 
Minutes prepared by Joshua Williams.  



Entry 11: Enrollment and Retention of students with disabilities, English language learners, and 
students who are eligible for free and reduced priced lunch 
 

 2014-2015 
Hyde 

2015-2016 
Hyde 

2015-2016 
District 8 

2015-2016 
Citywide 

Students with 
disabilities 17% 19% 22% 19% 

English language 
learners 7.6% 8% 12% 13% 

Students eligible for 
free/reduced lunch 93% 90% 89% 77% 

 
Hyde’s enrollment of students with disabilities increased from 17% to 19% in the 2015-

16 school year. Although this is slightly lower than the average percentage of students with 
disabilities in District 8, it should be noted that Hyde’s population of students with disabilities 
reflects the 2015-2016 citywide average of students with disabilities. Hyde’s percentage of 
English language learners increased slightly this year (from 7.6% to 8.0%), although still lagging 
behind the percentage of ELLs in District 8 and the rest of the city. Lastly, Hyde’s percentage of 
students eligible for free or reduced lunch prices was 90%, well above the citywide average 
(77%) and above the average for District 8 (89%).  
 

Hyde does not discriminate in admission and enrollment practices on the basis of the 
student having a disability, limited English proficiency, or being eligible for free or reduced 
priced lunch.  Students with disabilities, English language learners, and students eligible for free 
or reduced lunch are accepted into the school through the regular admissions process. For the 
2016-2017 school year, Hyde received a record number of 2603 applications for approximately 
100 open seats. Hyde’s recruitment efforts included the following: 

• All recruitment documents noted services offered for English language learners 
and students with disabilities 

• Recruitment documents were translated into Spanish 
• Information sessions, which were offered in English and Spanish 
• Participated in the Common Charter Application to extend our reach 
• Distributed recruitment materials in to daycare centers, private and public schools 

in District 8 and Bronx 
 

Hyde Leadership Charter School will make efforts to attract a comparable or greater 
enrollment of students with disabilities and English language learners as compared to the 
enrollment figures for students in the district locations by notifying the CSE of our educational 
programs and possible openings for the coming school year. Hyde Leadership will continue to 
hold additional information sessions for parents who are interested in learning more about 
special education services and the structured English immersion program our school provides.  
Hyde will retain special education students and English language learners by ensuring to offer 
exceptional programs that are responsive to the needs of our students and their parents.    
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Entry	12	Teacher	and	Administrator	Attrition
Created:	07/06/2016
Last	updated:	07/25/2016

Report	changes	in	teacher	and	administrator	staffing.

Page	1

Instructions	for	completing	the	Teacher	and	Administrator	Attrition	Tables
The	following	tables	reflect	formatting	in	the	online	portal	required	for	Regents
authorized	charter	schools.		Schools	should	provide,	for	teachers	and
administrators	only,	the	full	time	equivalent	(FTE)	of	staff	on	June	30,	2015;	the
FTE	for	added	staff	from	July	1,	2015	through	June	30,	2016;	and	the	FTE	for	any
departed	staff	from	July	1,	2015	through	June	30,	2016	using	the	two	tables
provided.

2015-16	Teacher	Attrition	Table

FTE	Teachers	on
June	30,	2015

FTE	Teachers
Departed
7/1/15	–
6/30/16

FTE	Teachers
Filling	Vacant
Positions	7/1/15
–	6/30/16

FTE	Teachers
Added	in	New
Positions
7/1/15-6/30/16

FTE	of	Teachers
on	June	30,
2016

99 24 12 0 103

2015-16	Administrator	Position	Attrition	Table

FTE
Administrative
Positions	on
June	30,	2015

FTE
Administrators
Departed
7/1/15	–
6/30/16

FTE
Administrators
Filling	Vacant
Positions	7/1/15
–	6/30/16

FTE
Administrators
Added	in	New
Positions
7/1/15-6/30/16

FTE
Administrative
Positions	on
June	30,	2016

34 3 3 0 32

Thank	you
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Entry	13	Uncertified	Teachers
Created:	07/11/2016
Last	updated:	07/25/2016

Page	1

The	table	below	is	reflective	of	the	information	collected	through	the	online
portal	for	compliance	with	New	York	State	Education	Law	2854(3)(a-1)	for
teaching	staff	qualifications.	Enter	the	relevant	full	time	equivalent	(FTE)	count
of	teachers	in	each	column.		For	example,	a	school	with	20	full	time	teachers	and
5	half	time	teachers	would	have	an	FTE	count	of	22.5.	If	more	than	one	column
applies	to	a	particular	teacher,	please	select	one	column	for	the	FTE	count.

Staff	Qualifications	(June	30,	2016)	
Note:	Columns	should	sum	to	the	FTE	count	of	Teachers	on	June	30,	2016,	and	each
teacher	should	be	in	only	one	column.

1.	FTE	Count	of	Uncertified	Teachers	(6-30-15) 0

2.	FTE	count	of	uncertified	teacher	with	at	least
three	years	of	elementary,	middle	or	secondary
classroom	teaching	experience	(6-30-15)

10

3.	FTE	count	of	uncertified	teachers	who	are	tenured
or	tenure	track	college	faculty	(6-30-15) 0

4.	FTE	count	of	uncertified	teachers	with	two	years
of	Teach	for	America	experience	(6-30-15) 2

5.	FTE	count	of	uncertified	teachers	with	exceptional
business,	professional,	artistic,	athletic,	or	military
experience	(6-30-15)

2

6.	FTE	count	of	uncertified	teachers	who	do	not	fit
into	any	of	the	prior	four	categories 10

Total 24.0

Thank	you.
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